2022 NJSBA Annual Meeting
Thursday, May 19th
10:30 -11:45
Tides
Judicial Creativity and Non-Traditional Case Management
Co-Sponsored by the Federal Practice and Procedure Section
Moderators/Speakers:
Michael V. Madden, Esq.
Madden and Madden, Haddonfield
Arthur M. Owens, Esq.
Clark Guldin Attorneys at Law, Montclair
Speakers:
Hon. Freda L. Wolfson, Chief Judge
United States District Court for the District of New Jersey
Hon. Michael A. Shipp
United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, Trenton
Victor A. Afanador, Esq.
Lite, DePalma, Greenberg & Afanador, Newark

Rule 16. Pretrial Conferences;
Scheduling; Management
(a) PURPOSES OF A PRETRIAL CONFERENCE. In any action, the court may order the
attorneys and any unrepresented parties to appear for one or more pretrial
conferences for such purposes as:
(1) expediting disposition of the action;
(2) establishing early and continuing control so that the case will not be
protracted because of lack of management;
(3) discouraging wasteful pretrial activities;
(4) improving the quality of the trial through more thorough
preparation; and
(5) facilitating settlement.
(b) SCHEDULING.
(1) Scheduling Order. Except in categories of actions exempted by local
rule, the district judge—or a magistrate judge when authorized by local
rule—must issue a scheduling order:
(A) after receiving the parties’ report under Rule 26(f); or
(B) after consulting with the parties’ attorneys and any unrepresented
parties at a scheduling conference.
(2) Time to Issue. The judge must issue the scheduling order as soon as
practicable, but unless the judge finds good cause for delay, the judge
must issue it within the earlier of 90 days after any defendant has been
served with the complaint or 60 days after any defendant has appeared.
(3) Contents of the Order.
(A) Required Contents. The scheduling order must limit the time to
join other parties, amend the pleadings, complete discovery, and file
motions.
(B) Permitted Contents. The scheduling order may:
(i) modify the timing of disclosures under Rules 26(a) and 26(e)(1);
(ii) modify the extent of discovery;
(iii) provide for disclosure, discovery, or preservation of
electronically stored information;

(iv) include any agreements the parties reach for asserting claims of
privilege or of protection as trial-preparation material after information
is produced, including agreements reached under Federal Rule of
Evidence 502;
(v) direct that before moving for an order relating to discovery, the
movant must request a conference with the court;
(vi) set dates for pretrial conferences and for trial; and
(vii) include other appropriate matters.
(4) Modifying a Schedule. A schedule may be modified only for good
cause and with the judge's consent.
(c) ATTENDANCE AND MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION AT A PRETRIAL CONFERENCE.
(1) Attendance. A represented party must authorize at least one of its
attorneys to make stipulations and admissions about all matters that can
reasonably be anticipated for discussion at a pretrial conference. If
appropriate, the court may require that a party or its representative be
present or reasonably available by other means to consider possible
settlement.
(2) Matters for Consideration. At any pretrial conference, the court may
consider and take appropriate action on the following matters:
(A) formulating and simplifying the issues, and eliminating frivolous
claims or defenses;
(B) amending the pleadings if necessary or desirable;
(C) obtaining admissions and stipulations about facts and documents
to avoid unnecessary proof, and ruling in advance on the admissibility of
evidence;
(D) avoiding unnecessary proof and cumulative evidence, and limiting
the use of testimony under Federal Rule of Evidence 702;
(E) determining the appropriateness and timing of summary
adjudication under Rule 56;
(F) controlling and scheduling discovery, including orders affecting
disclosures and discovery under Rule 26 and Rules 29 through 37;
(G) identifying witnesses and documents, scheduling the filing and
exchange of any pretrial briefs, and setting dates for further conferences
and for trial;
(H) referring matters to a magistrate judge or a master;

(I) settling the case and using special procedures to assist in resolving
the dispute when authorized by statute or local rule;
(J) determining the form and content of the pretrial order;
(K) disposing of pending motions;
(L) adopting special procedures for managing potentially difficult or
protracted actions that may involve complex issues, multiple parties,
difficult legal questions, or unusual proof problems;
(M) ordering a separate trial under Rule 42(b) of a claim,
counterclaim, crossclaim, third-party claim, or particular issue;
(N) ordering the presentation of evidence early in the trial on a
manageable issue that might, on the evidence, be the basis for a
judgment as a matter of law under Rule 50(a) or a judgment on partial
findings under Rule 52(c);
(O) establishing a reasonable limit on the time allowed to present
evidence; and
(P) facilitating in other ways the just, speedy, and inexpensive
disposition of the action.
(d) PRETRIAL ORDERS. After any conference under this rule, the court should
issue an order reciting the action taken. This order controls the course of the
action unless the court modifies it.
(e) FINAL PRETRIAL CONFERENCE AND ORDERS. The court may hold a final pretrial
conference to formulate a trial plan, including a plan to facilitate the
admission of evidence. The conference must be held as close to the start of
trial as is reasonable, and must be attended by at least one attorney who
will conduct the trial for each party and by any unrepresented party. The
court may modify the order issued after a final pretrial conference only to
prevent manifest injustice.
(f) SANCTIONS.
(1) In General. On motion or on its own, the court may issue any just
orders, including those authorized by Rule 37(b)(2)(A)(ii)–(vii), if a party
or its attorney:
(A) fails to appear at a scheduling or other pretrial conference;
(B) is substantially unprepared to participate—or does not participate
in good faith—in the conference; or
(C) fails to obey a scheduling or other pretrial order.

(2) Imposing Fees and Costs. Instead of or in addition to any other
sanction, the court must order the party, its attorney, or both to pay the
reasonable expenses—including attorney's fees—incurred because of any
noncompliance with this rule, unless the noncompliance was substantially
justified or other circumstances make an award of expenses unjust.

LOCAL CIVIL RULE 16.1 PRETRIAL
CONFERENCES; SCHEDULING;
CASE MANAGEMENT
(a) Scheduling Conferences -- Generally
(1) Conferences pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 16 shall be conducted, in the
first instance, by the Magistrate Judge, unless the Judge otherwise directs.
The initial conference shall be scheduled within 60 days of 43 filing of an
initial answer, unless deferred by the Magistrate Judge due to the pendency
of a dispositive or other motion.
(2) The Magistrate Judge may conduct such other conferences as are
consistent with the circumstances of the particular case and this Rule and
may revise any prior scheduling order for good cause.
(3) At each conference each party not appearing pro se shall be represented
by an attorney who shall have full authority to bind that party in all pretrial
matters.
(4) The Magistrate Judge may, at any time he or she deems appropriate or
at the request of a party, conduct a settlement conference. At each such
conference attorneys shall ensure that parties are available, either in person
or by telephone, and as the Magistrate Judge directs, except that a
governmental party may be represented by a knowledgeable delegate.
(5) Conferences shall not be conducted in those civil cases described in
L.Civ.R. 72.1(a)(3)(C) unless the Magistrate Judge so directs.
(b) Scheduling and Case Management Orders
(1) At or after the initial conference, the Magistrate Judge shall, after
consultation with counsel, enter a scheduling order which may include, but
need not be limited to, the following:
(A) dates by which parties must move to amend pleadings or add new
parties;
(B) dates for submission of experts' reports;

(C) dates for completion of fact and expert discovery;
(D) dates for filing of dispositive motions after due consideration
whether such motions may be brought at an early stage of proceedings (i.e.,
before completion of fact discovery or submission of experts' reports);
(E) a pretrial conference date;
(F) any designation of the case for arbitration, mediation, appointment
of a special master or other special procedure;
(G) limitations on the scope of preservation, as well as on the scope,
method or order of discovery as may be warranted by the circumstances of
the particular case to avoid duplication, harassment, delay or needless
expenditure of costs; and
(H) in an action asserting professional malpractice or negligence,
(1) whether an affidavit of merit has been served, or is required
to be served,
(2) the date by which an affidavit of merit must be served,
(3) if an affidavit has been served, whether the defendant has
any objections to the adequacy of the affidavit, and
(4) if appropriate, dates for filing of summary judgment motions
concerning the necessity or adequacy of the affidavit.
(2) Absent objection of a party or a form of order submitted on consent,
either of which must be set forth in a proposed discovery plan submitted
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(f)(2), a 44 scheduling order
entered pursuant to this subsection on or after September 30, 2016 shall be
deemed to incorporate an order pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 502(d)
that:
(i) The production of materials, inadvertent or otherwise, shall not be
deemed a waiver of attorney-client privilege or work product protection in
this civil action or in any other federal or State proceeding.
(ii) Nothing in (i) above shall limit the right of a party or subpoenaed
nonparty to conduct a reasonable review of materials for relevance or
otherwise in response to a discovery request or requests.
(3) The Magistrate Judge shall advise each party of the provisions of
L.Civ.R. 73.1(a).

(4) In a civil action arising under 18 U.S.C. §§1961-1968, the Judge or
Magistrate Judge may require a RICO case statement to be filed and served
in the form set forth in Appendix O.
(c) Initial Conferences -- L.Civ.R. 201.1 Arbitration Cases
At the initial conference in cases assigned to arbitration pursuant to
L.Civ.R. 201.1(c) the Magistrate Judge shall enter a scheduling order as
contemplated by L.Civ.R. 16.1(b) except that no pretrial date shall be set.
Only an initial conference shall be conducted prior to a demand for trial de
novo pursuant to L.Civ.R. 201.1(g), except that the Magistrate Judge may
conduct one or more additional conferences if a new party or claim is added,
or an unanticipated event occurs affecting the schedule set at the initial
conference.
(d) (deleted by order of 9/23/97) (e) Trial Briefs Trial briefs shall be
served upon counsel and delivered to the Court as directed in the pretrial
order or otherwise.
(f) Conference to Resolve Case Management Disputes
(1) Counsel shall confer to resolve any case management dispute. Any
such dispute not resolved shall be presented by telephone conference call or
letter to the Magistrate Judge. This presentation shall precede any formal
motion.
(2) Cases in which a party appears pro se shall not be subject to
L.Civ.R. 16.1(f)(1) unless the Magistrate Judge so directs. In such cases
case management disputes shall be presented by formal motion consistent
with L.Civ.R. 16.1(g).
(g) Case Management – Motions
(1) Case management motions must be accompanied by an affidavit
or other document complying with 28 U.S.C. § 1746 certifying that the
moving party has conferred with the opposing party in a good faith effort to
resolve by agreement the issues raised by the motion without the
intervention of the Court and that the parties have been unable to reach
agreement. The affidavit or other document complying with 28 U.S.C. §
1746 shall set forth the date and method of communication used in
attempting to reach agreement.
(2) L.Civ.R. 7.1 shall apply to case management motions, except that
no reply papers shall be allowed except with the permission of the
Magistrate Judge. Unless oral argument is to be heard under 45

L.Civ.R.16.1(g)(3), the Magistrate Judge may decide the motion on the basis
of the papers received when the deadline for submitting the opposition has
expired.
(3) No oral argument shall be heard except as permitted expressly by
the Magistrate Judge assigned to hear the motion. In the event oral
argument is required, the parties shall be notified by the Court. Oral
argument may be conducted in open court or by telephone conference, at
the discretion of the Magistrate Judge. Any party who believes that a case
management motion requires oral argument shall request it in the notice of
motion or in response to the notice of motion, and so notify the Court in
writing at the time the motion or opposition thereto is filed. Amended:
September 23, 1997; March 1, 2010; June 19, 2013; September 30, 2016;
July 5, 2018.
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Plaintiff Adam X. is a resident of Union County, New Jersey, and is currently
incarcerated by Defendant New Jersey Department of Corrections (“NJDOC”). Plaintiff Brian Y.
is a resident of Essex County, New Jersey, and is currently incarcerated by Defendant NJDOC.
Plaintiff Casey Z. is a resident of Essex County, New Jersey, and is currently incarcerated by
Defendant NJDOC. All Plaintiffs may be contacted through their counsel, whose addresses are
noted in this Complaint. Defendant NJDOC and Defendant Gary Lanigan have the address of
Whittlesey Road, P.O. Box 863, Trenton, NJ 08625. Defendant New Jersey Department of
Education (“NJDOE”) and Defendant Kimberley Harrington have the address of 100 River View
Plaza, P.O. Box 500, Trenton, NJ 08625.
Plaintiffs Adam X., Brian Y., and Casey Z.,1 individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated, the American Civil Liberties Union of New Jersey (“ACLU-NJ”), and The
Arc of New Jersey (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), by and through their counsel, American Civil
Liberties Union of New Jersey Foundation, Disability Rights Advocates, and Proskauer Rose
LLP, bring this Complaint against NJDOC and Gary Lanigan, in his official capacity as
Commissioner of the New Jersey Department of Corrections (collectively “NJDOC
Defendants”), and NJDOE and Kimberley Harrington, in her official capacity as Acting
Commissioner of the New Jersey Department of Education (collectively “NJDOE Defendants”).
INTRODUCTION
1.

This civil rights lawsuit challenges Defendants’ systemic failure to provide

appropriate and equal education to high school students with disabilities who are incarcerated in
1

Plaintiffs filed a motion to proceed under pseudonym, and at the time of this filing, were
developing a confidentiality agreement with Defendants. As discussed in the brief supporting
that motion, this case involves sensitive medical and educational information about the named
plaintiffs and there is no particular public interest in the Plaintiffs’ identities, all factors that
weigh heavily in favor of anonymity.
2
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adult prisons owned, operated, and/or controlled by NJDOC Defendants.
2.

The law is clear: Students with disabilities age twenty-one and younger2 are

entitled to special education and related services and to equal educational access though
incarcerated in adult prisons. Defendants are obligated to provide and monitor the provision of
this education.
3.

Under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.

(“IDEA”); Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794 (“Section 504”); and
the New Jersey Civil Rights Act N.J.S.A. 10:6-1 et seq. (“NJCRA”), students with disabilities
age twenty-one and younger who are held in adult correctional facilities are entitled to receive a
free appropriate public education (“FAPE”), which includes special education and related
services.
4.

Defendants’ legal obligations to students with disabilities do not stop with FAPE.

In addition to IDEA and Section 504’s FAPE requirements, students with disabilities are entitled
to equal access3 to education under Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §
12101 et seq. (“ADA”), Section 504, and the New Jersey Law Against Discrimination
(“NJLAD”), N.J.S.A. § 10:5-1, et seq. Under these legal mandates, students with disabilities
cannot be denied the benefits of, or excluded from, participation in Defendants’ educational
2

Under New Jersey state law, students incarcerated in adult facilities are entitled to special
education and related services until “the attainment of the 21st birthday by June 30 of that school
year. Students with disabilities attaining age 21 during the school year shall continue to be
provided services for the balance of that school year.” N.J.A.C. 6A:14-1.3.
Equal access refers to the access guaranteed under the Americans with Disabilities Act
(“ADA”) and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504”), as described in 28
C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1) and the New Jersey Law Against Discrimination (“NJLAD”), N.J.S.A. §
10:5-1. Such access can be achieved through, among other things, reasonable modifications to
policies, practices, and procedures; changes in methods of administration; revisions to eligibility
criteria; and ensuring services are offered in the most integrated setting.
3

3
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services.
5.

Despite their legal obligations, NJDOC Defendants systemically fail throughout

NJDOC’s thirteen adult prisons to provide special education or related services and equal
educational access for students with disabilities. As a result, these students are denied a free
appropriate public education. NJDOC Defendants also fail to provide students with disabilities,
because of their disabilities, the opportunity to equally and effectively participate in and benefit
from the educational services and programs offered and overseen by NJDOC Defendants in
NJDOC facilities.
6.

NJDOC Defendants’ failures are particularly egregious in the context of

administrative segregation.4 When NJDOC Defendants lock young people in administrative
segregation, they deny them special education services as required by IDEA and Section 504 and
equal access to education as required by the ADA and Section 504. Instead of receiving
education in a classroom, young people in administrative segregation, if they receive any
education at all, are provided with worksheets either in their cells or in a cage while an instructor
watches from outside.
7.

NJDOC Defendants’ administrative segregation policies and practices have a

disproportionate burden on the named plaintiffs and the class they represent, as young people are
routinely sent to administrative segregation regardless of their disabilities—ignoring disability4

The term “administrative segregation” refers to a practice commonly described as “solitary
confinement.” Inmates in administrative segregation are only provided with five hours of
recreation a week, see N.J.A.C. 10A:5-3.13, and three opportunities a week to shave and shower.
See N.J.A.C. 10A:5-3.6. The NJDOC regulations do not provide for regular face-to-face contact,
unobstructed by cells, with medical professionals or other NJDOC staff outside of the
aforementioned provisions. Effectively, individuals are deprived of equal human contact for the
vast majority of their time while held in administrative segregation, leading to serious mental
health risks. Plaintiffs use “lock-up” to refer to conditions similar to administrative segregation
in facilities that do not have a designated administrative segregation unit and/or that may use
practices identical to administrative segregation for periods of less than two weeks.
4
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related behavior and the disability-specific consequences of such segregation. It is widely
accepted that administrative segregation exacerbates the kinds of disabilities Plaintiffs have.5
Administrative segregation also results in students falling further behind in their education.
Defendants have no procedures for bringing students up to speed on their schoolwork after they
are released from administrative segregation, making it difficult for them to benefit from their
education and attain high school diplomas. In fact, falling behind in schoolwork and thus, high
school credits, wastes valuable time since students with disabilities are only entitled to special
education and related services through the school year of their twenty-first birthday.
8.

NJDOE Defendants are complicit in this discrimination, neglecting their

obligations to provide guidance regarding, to administer federal funding for, and to monitor and
ensure the provision of special education and related services in compliance with applicable
federal and state law.
9.

As described herein, the named plaintiffs entered NJDOC custody as teenagers,

some with histories of receiving IDEA special education services and some qualifying for
protection under the ADA and Section 504. NJDOC Defendants have failed to provide, and
NJDOE Defendants have failed to ensure the named plaintiffs receive, services and education as
required by these statutes.
10.

By failing to provide appropriate special education and related services, and equal

access to education, Defendants deny Plaintiffs, ACLU-NJ members, and the people that The
Experts agree that locking young people with mental disabilities (such as ADHD,
mood/personality disorders, and cognitive impairments) in administrative segregation worsens
symptoms of their disabilities and does not serve as a deterrent for disability-related behavior. In
addition to the direct harm administrative segregation causes, these effects also make placement
in administrative segregation in the future more likely. See, e.g., Stuart Grassian, Psychiatric
Effects of Solitary Confinement, 22 WASH. U. J. L. & POL’Y 325 (2006); Craig Haney, Mental
Health issues in Long-Term Solitary and “Supermax” Confinement, 49 CRIME & DELINQUENCY
124 (January 2003).
5

5
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Arc of NJ serves their rights in violation of IDEA, ADA, Section 504, NJCRA, and NJLAD.
These violations of detained students’ civil rights and illegal deprivations of educational services
at NJDOC facilities are rampant and widespread, yet Defendants have allowed these violations to
persist.
11.

Plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief on behalf of themselves and a

class of similarly situated students (“Plaintiff Class”) in the form of an order finding Defendants
out of compliance with relevant laws and directing Defendants to comply with all relevant laws
by providing a free appropriate public education and equal access to education for all students
with disabilities in the custody of NJDOC. Such compliance requires Defendants to (1) abide by
the substantive and procedural requirements of IDEA and Section 504 which include, inter alia,
identifying and evaluating all students with disabilities under eighteen years of age in NJDOC
custody, developing and implementing individual education programs (“IEPs”) for eligible
students, ensuring procedural protections for students with disabilities who face disciplinary
measures, and providing FAPE regardless of discipline (including when students with disabilities
are in administrative segregation); and (2) follow the non-discriminatory mandates of the ADA
and Section 504 which include ensuring equal access to education and ensuring that students
with disabilities are not disproportionately burdened by administrative segregation through, inter
alia, making reasonable modifications, changing methods of administration, revising eligibility
criteria, and providing an integrated setting. Plaintiffs also seek an award of reasonable
attorneys’ fees and costs under applicable law and request any other relief the Court deems
appropriate.
12.

Plaintiffs have suffered and continue to suffer irreparable harm as a result of

Defendants’ ongoing refusal to meet the needs of students with disabilities in NJDOC facilities,

6
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and will continue to suffer further irreparable harm unless and until the Court grants declaratory
and injunctive relief against Defendants to remedy the ongoing illegal treatment of and
discrimination against students with disabilities at NJDOC facilities, and to ensure that the rights
of students with disabilities are not violated.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
13.

Plaintiffs bring claims under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20

U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.; Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.;
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794; the New Jersey Civil Rights Act,
N.J.S.A. 10:6-1 et seq.; and the New Jersey Law Against Discrimination, N.J.S.A. 10:5-1 et seq.
14.

This Court has jurisdiction over the action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331,

1343(a)(3), and 1343(a)(4) as this is a civil action arising under the laws of the United States.
This Court has jurisdiction over the supplemental claims arising under New Jersey state law
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).
15.

Venue is proper for the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey

pursuant to 28 U.S.C § 1391 (a), (b), and (c) because the claims arose in this district and the
parties reside in this district.
PARTIES
16.

Plaintiff Adam X. is a twenty-year-old citizen of the United States, currently

incarcerated at Garden State Youth Correctional Facility (“Garden State”).
17.

Adam X. has been detained in NJDOC facilities since August of 2015, when he

was eighteen.
18.

Adam X. has been diagnosed under an IDEA disability category that his IEP

describes as “emotionally disturbed.” Adam X. also has been diagnosed with attention deficit

7
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hyperactivity disorder (“ADHD”). These impairments substantially limit one or more of his
major life activities, making him an individual with a disability. He is currently incarcerated at
Garden State and so NJDOC Defendants are responsible for providing educational services to
him.
19.

Plaintiff Brian Y. is a nineteen-year-old citizen of the United States, currently

incarcerated at Garden State.
20.

Brian Y. has been detained in NJDOC facilities since August of 2013, when he

was under the age of eighteen.
21.

Brian Y. has been diagnosed with oppositional defiant disorder, impulse control

disorder, ADHD, and adjustment disorder. These impairments substantially limit one or more of
his major life activities, making him an individual with a disability. He is currently incarcerated
at Garden State and so NJDOC Defendants are responsible for providing educational services to
him.
22.

Plaintiff Casey Z. is a twenty-one-year-old citizen of the United States, currently

incarcerated at New Jersey State Prison (“NJSP”).
23.

Casey Z. has been detained in NJDOC facilities since July of 2015, when he was

nineteen.
24.

Casey Z. has been diagnosed with a specific learning disability, ADHD, an

adjustment disorder, a conduct disorder, and has a history of exposure to lead at elevated levels.
These impairments substantially limit one or more of his major life activities, making him an
individual with a disability. He is currently incarcerated at NJSP and so NJDOC Defendants are
responsible for providing educational services to him.
25.

Organizational plaintiff American Civil Liberties Union of New Jersey is a

8
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private, non-profit, non-partisan membership organization dedicated to the principle of
individual liberty embodied in the Constitution. Founded in 1960, the ACLU-NJ has
approximately 14,000 members and donors in New Jersey and tens of thousands of supporters
across the state. Its office is located in Newark, New Jersey. The ACLU-NJ is the state affiliate
of the American Civil Liberties Union, which was founded in 1920 for identical purposes, and is
composed of hundreds of thousands of members and supporters nationwide. Among the
organizational interests of the ACLU-NJ is ensuring access to education for all New Jerseyans,
including incarcerated young people.
26.

The ACLU-NJ suffered injury to the organization by expending significant

resources due to Defendants’ actions and inactions. By failing to follow or comply with federal
and state education laws, Defendants have forced ACLU-NJ to advocate for the rights of
incarcerated individuals who are being denied education. Also, by failing to account for
disability in its policies and procedures, NJDOC Defendants have forced ACLU-NJ to engage in
policy advocacy to eliminate solitary confinement for the most vulnerable populations, including
young people with disabilities. The ACLU-NJ also has members who have suffered injury due to
Defendants’ actions and inactions. These members are incarcerated young people in adult
prisons who are denied special education and equal access to education and who have been
locked in administrative segregation regardless of their disabilities. Members also include
parents of young people with disabilities who can pursue, on behalf of their children, claims for
denial of special education and equal access to education.
27.

Organizational plaintiff The Arc of New Jersey is a non-profit, membership

organization dedicated to promoting and protecting the human rights of individuals with
intellectual and developmental disabilities. The Arc of NJ was incorporated in 1949, and has

9
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approximately 6000 members in New Jersey, including persons with intellectual and
developmental disabilities, their families and caregivers, as well as professionals in the field and
other concerned citizens. Its office is located in North Brunswick, New Jersey. The Arc of NJ is
a state affiliate of The Arc of the United States, which was founded in 1953 with the goal of
advancing the human rights of people with intellectual and developmental disabilities. Among
the organizational interests of The Arc of NJ are: (1) ensuring that all students with intellectual
and/or developmental disabilities receive a FAPE that includes individualized supports; (2)
ensuring that people with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities involved with the
criminal justice system have the right to justice and fair treatment in all areas, including
reasonable modifications as necessary while incarcerated; and (3) working to increase the
employability of people with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities who have criminal
histories.
28.

The Arc of NJ suffered injury to the organization by expending resources due to

Defendants’ actions and inactions. By failing to identify, track, and then provide young people
with disabilities with the services to which they are entitled under state and federal law,
Defendants have forced The Arc of NJ to engage in multiple forms of advocacy. As part of these
efforts, The Arc of NJ has expended resources attempting to convince NJDOC Defendants to
improve their procedures for identifying young people with intellectual and/or developmental
disabilities.
29.

Defendant New Jersey Department of Corrections is a New Jersey state agency

located in Trenton, New Jersey. NJDOC contains the Office of Educational Services (“OES”), a
subdivision of NJDOC’s Division of Programs and Community Services, which is responsible
for providing special education services to all eligible students age twenty-one and younger in

10
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NJDOC custody.
30.

Defendant Gary Lanigan is Commissioner of NJDOC and is sued in his official

capacity.
31.

Defendant New Jersey Department of Education is a New Jersey state agency

located in Trenton, New Jersey. NJDOE contains the Office of Special Education Programs
(“OSEP”), which is responsible for overseeing the provision of special education in New Jersey.
32.

Defendant Kimberley Harrington is the Acting Commissioner of NJDOE and is

sued in her official capacity.
CLASS ALLEGATIONS
33.

Plaintiffs bring this action individually and on behalf of all persons similarly

situated pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) and (b)(2).
34.

The class consists of all people, age twenty-one and younger, with mental

disabilities who are currently detained or who will be detained at NJDOC facilities, where
“mental disabilities” is defined to include all those mental disabilities enumerated under IDEA
and any mental impairment that substantially limits a major life activity consistent with the ADA
and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act (“Plaintiff Class”).
35.

The persons in the class are so numerous that joinder of all such persons is

impracticable and the disposition of their claims in a class action is a benefit to the parties and to
the Court. Indeed, Plaintiffs maintain that the class of persons consists of hundreds of youth.
According to publicly available information on NJDOC’s website, there are approximately 792
young people age twenty-one and younger in NJDOC facilities. In the 2015-2016 school year,
approximately 96 students (about 12% of students age twenty-one and younger) in NJDOC
custody were considered eligible for special education. This number is likely a gross undercount.
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Estimates of the percentage of youth in detention facilities who require either an IEP or a Section
504 Plan can be as high as 70%. The Juvenile Justice Commission (“JJC”), the other agency in
New Jersey charged with providing education to incarcerated young people, serves a population
similar in age to the putative class (60% of people in JJC custody are eighteen or over). The JJC
reports that approximately 42% of students in its custody have been diagnosed as having special
education needs. Extrapolating from that percentage, approximately 333 students age twenty-one
and younger in NJDOC facilities likely have been or should have been diagnosed as having
special education needs before entering NJDOC custody. Plaintiffs maintain that many detained
youth who have a disability have not been identified as such because of Defendants’ failure to
fulfill their obligations under federal and state laws to obtain students’ records in a timely
manner; to locate, identify, and assess youth suspected of having a disability; and to provide
services to those students who already had an IEP when they entered NJDOC custody.
36.

Moreover, this is a fluid class because the population within NJDOC facilities

changes frequently and not all class members can be specifically identified.
37.

There are questions of law and fact common to the class. All individuals are

subject to the same conditions, the legality of which will be determined under IDEA, the ADA,
Section 504, NJCRA, and NJLAD.
38.

The claims of the Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the class. Plaintiffs have

been and are being denied their legal right to a free appropriate public education and to equal
educational access.
39.

Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class. There are no

conflicts between the Plaintiffs and other class members. Plaintiffs have retained counsel
experienced in class action litigation relating to education, special education, and the civil rights
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of persons with disabilities.
40.

Defendants have acted and/or failed to act on grounds generally applicable to the

class as a whole, thereby making appropriate final declaratory and injunctive relief with respect
to the class as a whole.
41.

Plaintiffs cannot exhaust their educational due process administrative remedies,

pursuant to IDEA, because it is both futile and impossible to do so. Exhaustion through
individual due process claims in the Office of Administrative Law is impossible because the
harms that the individual plaintiffs allege and the remedies they seek are systemic. Systemic
deficiencies are not capable of review in a particular student’s due process claim, nor is systemic
relief available as a remedy in such a case. Thus, an effort to exhaust for the individual plaintiffs
would be futile. Additionally, it is impossible for ACLU-NJ and The Arc of NJ to exhaust their
claims for the organizational harms they have suffered through the Office of Administrative
Law.
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
State of New Jersey Department of Corrections
42.

Defendant NJDOC operates thirteen adult correctional facilities throughout the

state of New Jersey.
43.

According to its website, NJDOC describes ten facilities, collectively, as the

Prison Complex: NJSP, Central Reception and Assignment Facility (“CRAF”), East Jersey State
Prison, Bayside State Prison, Mid-State Correctional Facility (temporarily closed for renovation),
Southern State Correctional Facility, Northern State Prison (“Northern State”), South Woods
State Prison, Edna Mahan Correctional Facility for Women, and the Adult Diagnostic and
Treatment Center (a facility for adult male sex offenders).
44.

As of January 3, 2017, 13,972 people resided in Prison Complex facilities.
13
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45.

NJDOC describes three facilities as the Youth Correctional Complex: Garden

State, Albert C. Wagner Youth Correctional Facility (“Wagner”), and Mountainview Youth
Correctional Facility (“Mountainview”).
46.

As of January 3, 2017, 2,745 people resided in the Youth Correctional Complex

facilities.
47.

Currently, people age twenty-one and younger reside in all facilities, except

Bayside State Prison, but because housing decisions are based on NJDOC’s institutional and
security interests, and prisoners have no right to a particular housing assignment, students age
twenty-one and younger can be moved to any NJDOC prison while serving their sentences, and
so compliance with special education laws is required on a system-wide basis.
Educational Policies and Practices at
New Jersey Department of Corrections Facilities
48.

The Office of Educational Services, an NJDOC subdivision of the Division of

Programs & Community Services, is charged with carrying out NJDOC’s responsibility to
provide educational services. According to NJDOC’s website, OES’s mission “is to provide
student inmates with academic, vocational and life-skills programming. … Staff members
supervise, support and ensure delivery of educational services, including law library services.”
Additionally, the OES section of NJDOC’s website states that OES must “ensur[e] that all
available funding is allocated, distributed and utilized,” including funds collected from Direct
State Appropriations, State Facilities Education Act (“SFEA”), Title I Neglected and Delinquent,
and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Part B.
49.

NJDOC, through OES, operates the High School Diploma Program. As part of the

High School Diploma Program, according to the OES section of NJDOC’s website, “[a]ll youth
offenders under the age of twenty, as well as those under age twenty-one with an Individualized
14
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Education Plan (IEP), are provided traditional high school coursework, including mathematics,
social studies, language arts, science and enrichment classes. Students earn credits from their
home school districts toward fulfillment of their high school diplomas. Youth students are
mandated to complete such coursework until they reach an ineligible age.”
50.

NJDOC administers the Test of Adult Basic Education (“TABE”) to students

entering its facilities. After NJDOC places the students in classes based on their TABE scores,
they are tested again after sixty hours of instruction to measure any educational gains.
Special Education and Equal Educational Access Requirements for Youth with
Disabilities at New Jersey Department of Corrections Facilities
51.

Together, IDEA, Section 504, and NJCRA require NJDOC Defendants to provide

students with disabilities age twenty-one and younger with a free appropriate public education.
52.

As part of their obligation to provide FAPE, NJDOC Defendants must, among

other things: (1) identify, locate, and evaluate all students with disabilities in their custody who
are under eighteen years old per the “Child Find” requirement under IDEA and Section 504; (2)
develop and implement appropriate IEPs for students with disabilities; (3) provide “comparable
services” to all students who enter their custody already eligible for special education; (4) offer a
“continuum of alternative placements” to meet the needs of students with disabilities; (5) provide
education in the least restrictive environment appropriate; (6) provide procedural protections,
including “manifestation determinations,” for students with disabilities who face disciplinary
measures – including placement in administrative segregation – to ensure that they are not being
disciplined for behavior that is a manifestation of their disability; (7) provide “transition
services” for plans following graduation; and (8) continue to provide FAPE when students with
disabilities face a “change in placement,” including being placed in administrative segregation.
53.

In addition to their obligation to provide FAPE to all eligible students with
15
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disabilities, the ADA and Section 504 require NJDOC Defendants to provide all eligible students
with disabilities equal access to education by, inter alia: (1) making reasonable modifications in
their policies, practices, and procedures; (2) changing methods of administration; (3) revising
eligibility criteria; and (4) providing an integrated setting. These remedial steps would require
NJDOC Defendants, at a minimum, to identify and track students with disabilities, to inquire into
whether behaviors leading to discipline are disability-related, and to ensure that students with
disabilities are not disproportionately burdened by administrative segregation.
54.

New Jersey education regulations additionally require that NJDOC Defendants

provide all students who are not eligible for special education services (i.e. general education
students) with an individualized program plan (“IPP”)6 within 30 calendar days of their
placement in NJDOC’s custody.
Systemic Failure of New Jersey Department of Corrections to Comply with the Law
55.

NJDOC Defendants systemically fail to fulfill their legal obligations under federal

and state laws from the time young people with disabilities enter their custody. Indeed, NJDOC’s
spending plan under the State Facilities Education Act allocated no money to education at
Wagner, Northern State, or NJSP. The individual plaintiffs, who all have special educational
needs, have resided or currently reside at all three of these facilities.
Failure to Comply with IDEA, Section 504, and NJCRA
56.

Defendants systemically fail in their Child Find duties pursuant to IDEA and

Section 504. Child Find requires NJDOC Defendants to locate, identify, and evaluate individuals
with disabilities regardless of whether previous school records indicate a need for special
education or reasonable modifications. NJDOC Defendants do not take these required steps, and
An IPP is not the same as an IEP. An IPP is for general education students and an IEP is for
special education students and required under IDEA.
6
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only provide special education services to students who are already identified as having a
disability when they enter NJDOC custody.
57.

For students who were already identified as eligible for special education services

when they entered custody, NJDOC Defendants systemically fail to provide the individualized
educational services that these students are entitled to under the law.
58.

NJDOC Defendants routinely place students of different ages and ability levels in

a single classroom with only one teacher, disregarding the requirements laid out in students’
IEPs. As a result, teachers provide direct instruction sporadically and fail to differentiate
instruction to meet each student’s individual needs. Teachers are rarely certified to teach special
education or qualified to teach the variety of subjects they are teaching. Much of students’ work
in NJDOC classrooms consists of independently completing worksheets.
59.

NJDOC Defendants fail in a number of different ways to develop and implement

appropriate IEPs for students with disabilities. NJDOC Defendants do not provide specialized
academic instruction to students with disabilities for the required amount of time called for in
those students’ IEPs. Indeed, when students with disabilities have difficulty on their worksheets,
NJDOC teachers routinely encourage them to ask other inmates for help rather than provide the
special education and related services laid out in students’ IEPs.
60.

Students with disabilities who come from special day classes or non-public

schools that provide full-time special education instruction and related services typically
received 300 minutes of specialized academic instruction in those settings. When these students
enter NJDOC custody, Defendants greatly reduce the amount of specialized instruction without
explanation.
61.

NJDOC Defendants fail to provide transition services to young people with IEPs
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who will leave NJDOC custody before the June following their twenty-first year. These
transition services are intended to assist young people in developing a plan for their postsecondary education or vocation.
62.

NJDOC Defendants also fail to provide the continuum of alternative placements

required under the law. A continuum of alternative placements means that NJDOC Defendants
must provide a range of educational environments that offer varying degrees and forms of special
education (e.g., in-class one-on-one tutoring, full-time special education class). In some
facilities, such as NJSP, there have been long periods where the only classroom was a GED
classroom. In other facilities, such as Garden State, though NJDOC Defendants may provide
what they describe as special education classes, those classes do not in fact provide special
education, for the reasons described herein.
63.

NJDOC Defendants also fail to provide education to students in the least

restrictive environment appropriate. The least restrictive environment requirement ensures that
young people with disabilities will not be segregated in their education, unless appropriate for
the provision of special educational services.
64.

Because of the lack of placements at NJDOC, students coming from a non-

general education setting cannot possibly receive comparable services, because putting such a
student in a general education setting after he or she was, for instance, previously placed in a
non-public school with full-time special education instruction is not “comparable.” Under the
comparable services requirement, NJDOC Defendants must provide equivalent educational
services to what educational services students had prior to entering a new educational placement.
In addition, NJDOC Defendants fail to provide comparable services to students with disabilities
before an IEP is developed and implemented, as is also legally required.
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65.

When students with disabilities face disciplinary measures, NJDOC Defendants

fail to provide the protections required under IDEA. NJDOC Defendants do not conduct
manifestation determinations for students with disabilities before changing their educational
placements, including by moving them to placement in administrative segregation, nor do
NJDOC Defendants rely on positive behavioral interventions and supports to counter behavior
that impedes learning.
66.

Once students with disabilities are placed in administrative segregation, NJDOC

Defendants fail to provide them with the required special education and related services.
67.

Frequently, students with disabilities in administrative segregation are provided

with no educational services whatsoever, let alone special education and related services.
68.

Any education that NJDOC Defendants provide and allow for students with

disabilities in administrative segregation does not constitute special education, as it does not
follow the students’ IEP goals and does not allow students with disabilities to continue to
participate in the general education curriculum.
69.

Education in administrative segregation frequently consists of worksheets

dropped off at the student’s cell, with no direct instruction at all. For young people with
disabilities, who struggle to read and grasp new concepts, this educational method of providing
worksheets without instruction results in frustration rather than meaningful education. Other
students leave their cell to attend classes in a structure enclosed on all sides by bars, essentially a
cage. The students sit in the center of the cage, while a teacher stands outside of the cage and
monitors the students while they complete their worksheets.
Failure to Comply with ADA, Section 504, and NJLAD
70.

NJDOC Defendants not only fail to meet the FAPE standards, but also fail to
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provide equal access to education under Title II of the ADA, Section 504, and NJLAD, which
require educational services that provide an equal and effective opportunity for young people
with disabilities to access education.
71.

The equal access to education requirement under the ADA and Section 504 holds

NJDOC Defendants to a higher standard than that of FAPE. For instance, the FAPE standard
requires that Child Find obligations continue only until age eighteen, while the equal access
standard would require NJDOC Defendants to identify, track, and accommodate disabled
students as needed to provide equal access to education past the age of eighteen. Likewise, the
ADA and Section 504 mandate that NJDOC Defendants inquire into whether behaviors leading
to discipline are disability-related. These requirements are independent of IDEA’s manifestation
determination requirement. For example, even if a manifestation determination has occurred, or
is not required, the ADA and Section 504 nevertheless require NJDOC Defendants to analyze
behavior before disciplining a young person with a disability to determine if the behavior is
disability-related.
72.

The ADA, Section 504, and NJLAD also require that young people with

disabilities who are incarcerated not be disproportionately burdened by conditions of
confinement. For instance, as has been widely recognized, conditions in administrative
segregation exacerbate young people’s disabilities, causing them to fall further behind in
education. To make matters worse, NJDOC Defendants’ lack of procedures to bring these
students back up to speed after they leave administrative segregation makes it more difficult for
the students to benefit from educational services. As such, given NJDOC Defendants’ policies
and practices, students placed in administrative segregation are denied equal access to education.
State of New Jersey Department of Education’s Oversight Responsibilities
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73.

Under IDEA, each “[s]tate educational agency is responsible for ensuring that …

the requirements of [a free appropriate public education in the least restrictive environment] are
met [and that] all educational programs for children with disabilities in the State … meet the
educational standards of the State educational agency.” 20 U.S.C. § 1412(a)(11)(A); accord 34
C.F.R. § 300.101(c)(1) (“Each State must ensure that FAPE is available to any individual child
with a disability who needs special education and related services …”); 34 C.F.R. §
300.114(a)(1) (“[T]he State must have in effect policies and procedures to ensure that public
agencies in the State meet the LRE requirements of this section …”); see also 34 C.F.R. §
300.149(a)(2)(ii).
74.

NJDOE is New Jersey’s state educational agency (“SEA”) because it is the state

“agency … primarily responsible for State supervision of public elementary schools and
secondary schools.” 20 U.S.C. § 1401(32); 34 C.F.R. § 300.41; see also, e.g., N.J.A.C. 6A:149.1.
75.

The SEA “must [m]onitor … [and] [e]nforce” the rights IDEA provides. 34

C.F.R. § 300.600; accord 20 U.S.C. § 1416.
76.

New Jersey regulations similarly require that “[t]he Department of Education

shall monitor all programs and services required … for compliance with New Jersey Statutes, the
New Jersey Administrative Code, the approved special education plan and Federal requirements
under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).” N.J.A.C. 6A:14-9.1(a).
77.

NJDOE’s monitoring includes “review of … [p]rovision of a free, appropriate

public education in the least restrictive environment,” N.J.A.C. 6A:14-9.1(a)(1)(i), which may be
done by reviewing data, reports, and student records, conducting on-site visits, comparing
sample IEPs with the programs and services provided, developing improvement plans for areas
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of deficiency, and auditing state and federal funds. See N.J.A.C. 6A:14-9.1(b).
78.

NJDOE Defendants have failed systemically to comply with their federal law

obligations in that they have failed to put in place adequate monitoring to ensure NJDOC
Defendants’ compliance with IDEA, and they have failed to identify and correct the educational
deficiencies alleged herein.
79.

For example, NJDOE Defendants’ failures include, but are not limited to,

conducting cursory inspections that did not adequately assess educational content; failing to
ensure compliance with students’ IEPs; approving budgets submitted under the SFEA that
reflected such low levels of overall spending that NJDOE Defendants should have been alerted
that there was a potential for denial of FAPE, including budgets that did not provide for funding
or provided as little as $800 for an eleven month period to entire facilities that house SFEAeligible students, such as NJSP, Northern State, and Wagner; approving budgets that reflected
extremely low levels of expenditures on particular items, such as between 0–2% of projected
textbook budgets actually spent and 8% of projected supplies budgets actually spent; and
approving reports that reflected disproportionately low numbers of evaluations conducted in light
of the number of students with IEPs in facilities.
Plaintiffs’ Individual Allegations
Adam X.
80.

Plaintiff Adam X. is a twenty-year-old who entered NJDOC custody in August of

2015 at the age of eighteen. Adam X. remains in NJDOC custody and is subject to the
Defendants’ same policies and practices.
81.

As a resident of Garden State at the time of filing, Adam X. is qualified to

participate in the programs, services, and activities of NJDOC.
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82.

Adam X. has been found eligible under an IDEA disability category his IEP

described as “emotional disturbed.” He also has been diagnosed with ADHD. These impairments
substantially limit one or more of his major life activities, making him an individual with a
disability.
83.

Before entering NJDOC custody, Adam X. attended high school at two private

schools designed for students with special education needs, where he had an IEP.
84.

Adam X.’s IEP required, among other forms of educational assistance, behavior

modification, teacher guidance, and counseling.
85.

Adam X.’s history of attending out-of-district placements for students with

special education needs should have put NJDOC Defendants on notice that Adam X. had special
education needs.
86.

Despite the fact that Adam X. had an IEP when he entered NJDOC custody,

NJDOC Defendants failed to implement Adam X.’s existing IEP or hold a valid Child Study
Team meeting, as they are required to under state regulations implementing IDEA. Adam X. has
not received special educational services at any point throughout his time in NJDOC custody and
continues to be denied appropriate services, all in violation of IDEA, Section 504, the ADA, and
NJLAD.
87.

When Adam X. entered NJDOC custody, he was placed in CRAF while awaiting

his assignment. He received no education in CRAF.
88.

Adam X. was then placed in Mountainview, where the IEPs he received were

devoid of the special education services required to meet his needs. As a result, and as described
further below, Adam X. also did not receive equal access to education at Mountainview.
89.

At Mountainview, Adam X. was placed in a general education classroom despite
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his IEP, his history of special education placements, and what he was told were low TABE
scores.
90.

For Adam X., classes at Mountainview consisted of individually working on

printed worksheets. Teachers did not teach lessons to the class, but supervised the completion of
these worksheets. Students who had questions about how to complete assignments could ask
teachers, but teachers often did not know the answers because they taught multiple subjects in
which they had no expertise. Worksheets students completed were returned weeks later, if ever.
91.

In March of 2016, Adam X. was in a fight with another inmate because of

behavior attributable to his disability.
92.

While waiting to hear whether he would receive a disciplinary charge for the

fight, Adam X. spent about five days in “lock-up” – an interim placement NJDOC prisoners are
sent to when awaiting disciplinary action – in Mountainview, during which he was prohibited
from attending school at all. Adam X. received a disciplinary charge without receiving a
manifestation determination or any process to determine whether the behavior was a
manifestation of his disability or whether a change of placement was appropriate in light of his
disability as required by IDEA and Section 504, or without inquiry into whether the behavior
was disability-related and required reasonable modifications, changes in methods of
administration, revisions to eligibility criteria for education or a more integrated setting as
required under the ADA and Section 504.
93.

After receiving the disciplinary charge, Adam X. was sent to administrative

segregation in Wagner, where he spent three months. NJDOC Defendants failed to hold another
IEP meeting due to this “change in placement,” as is required under IDEA and Section 504, or to
consider steps to avoid discrimination as required under the ADA and Section 504, such as
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determining whether administrative segregation was appropriate given his disability.
94.

While in administrative segregation, the only education Adam X. received was

one to two hours of class time in a cage in the middle of the unit. Adam X. sat in the cage with
about eleven other students while the teacher stood outside of the cage. The teacher handed out
packets of worksheets, which students completed and submitted. Packets were neither graded nor
returned to students.
95.

Adam X. received credits but received no substantive feedback on his work from

his teacher.
96.

While in administrative segregation, Adam X. was not provided with educational

services, including special education, as required under IDEA and Section 504 and equal access
to education as required under the ADA and Section 504. The worksheets he received constitute
neither educational services (including special education) nor equal educational access.
97.

Because of his disability, Adam X. was disproportionately burdened while in

administrative segregation. Administrative segregation exacerbated his disabilities. The isolation
associated with administrative segregation exacerbated symptoms of his ADHD, including
difficulty concentrating and increased impulsivity. These symptoms impacted not only his
disability-related behavior while in administrative segregation but made it more difficult for him
to focus on any education that he was offered. Administrative segregation also resulted in Adam
X. falling further behind in his education because he was denied special education (and most
other educational services) while in administrative segregation. Administrative segregation also
deprived Adam X. of valuable time, as he only is qualified to receive special education for a
limited time, i.e., until June 30 of the year in which he turns twenty-one.
98.

On June 17, 2016, Adam X. was sent to Garden State, where he took a TABE to
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determine his educational placement.
99.

He did not meet with any member of the Child Study Team at Garden State, and

the teaching staff did not initiate any discussion about his IEP until mid-August.
100.

At Garden State, he was in general education classes with five to six other

students and no special education supports. He was moved to a class that was described as a
special education class. However, he was unsure whether it was actually a special education class
because there was no support for his special education needs, and the teacher, the material, and
the method of instruction all fell short of providing an equal educational benefit.
101.

Starting in late August of 2016, Adam X. was placed in a supplemental class on

Tuesday and Thursday evenings for students who had failed the TABE. These classes were
inconsistently held.
102.

Until late August of 2016, no member of NJDOC staff had spoken to him about

transition planning for his vocational plans, as required by IDEA. The transition planning he
received was cursory. The staff conducted a test to determine what kind of occupation might be
appropriate for Adam X. The outcome of the test was a recommendation that he pursue in a
career in finance. Staff did nothing further to discuss this career path with him.
103.

From about September of 2016 through about December of 2016, Adam X. was

in administrative segregation at Northern State. Once again, he was locked in administrative
segregation regardless of his disability. No one considered his disabilities in locking him in
administrative segregation, or considered whether administrative segregation was appropriate for
him.
104.

As at Wagner, at Northern State, Adam X. received educational instruction in a

cage, with the teacher standing outside. He was in class alongside students of dramatically
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different ability levels.
105.

He returned to Garden State in December of 2016, and since then he has received

substantially similar education to the education he received before his placement in
administrative segregation.
106.

He is taking two classes, they are frequently canceled. He is told they have been

canceled because the teacher was not present.
107.

As a result of these failures to comply with relevant laws and regulations, Adam

X. has not received a FAPE or equal access to education.
Brian Y.
108.

Plaintiff Brian Y. is a nineteen-year-old who entered NJDOC custody before he

turned eighteen. Brian Y. remains in NJDOC custody and is subject to the Defendants’ policies
and practices that are discussed herein.
109.

As a resident of Garden State at the time of filing, Brian Y. is qualified to

participate in the programs, services, and activities of NJDOC.
110.

Brian Y. has been diagnosed with oppositional defiant disorder, impulse control

disorder, ADHD, and an adjustment disorder. These impairments substantially limit one or more
of his major life activities, making him an individual with a disability.
111.

Brian Y. has been hospitalized at least three times for mental disability-related

reasons.
112.

Brian Y.’s disabilities and history of disability-related behavior problems

adversely impacted his educational performance.
113.

Brian Y. attended a local public school before his arrest and subsequent

incarceration. In the year prior to his arrest, Brian Y. received failing grades in five of eight
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courses and Ds in two other courses. He also missed sixty-six days of school during the 2012
school year.
114.

Brian Y. knows that the Garden State staff is aware that he has an adjustment

disorder because staff discussed this with him. He also had bi-weekly meetings with a mental
health counselor during his time in Garden State.
115.

NJDOC Defendants never developed an IEP for Brian Y. Instead, they developed

an IPP for Brian Y. as a general education (not special education) student. His most recent IPP,
including his TABE scores, indicates that his academic levels are still well below grade level.
116.

Brian Y.’s history of hospitalizations, disability-related behavior, and extremely

low academic performance should have put NJDOC Defendants on notice that Brian Y. had
special education and disability-related needs, but, in violation of NJDOC Defendants’ Child
Find obligation under IDEA and Section 504, NJDOC Defendants failed to provide Brian Y.
with an appropriate education evaluation and develop an IEP for him. NJDOC Defendants also
failed to identify and track Brian Y. and the reasonable modifications he requires, as required by
the ADA and Section 504.
117.

When Brian Y. informed Garden State that it failed to identify him as a student

with a disability in need of special education and related services and reasonable modifications,
staff responded that NJDOC was not legally obligated to do so.
118.

When Brian Y. entered NJDOC custody, he was placed in Garden State’s youth

unit. Brian Y.’s education at Garden State consisted of classes with one teacher and
approximately six other students from different grade levels, which made it difficult for the
teacher to differentiate instruction based on students’ needs. Since the teacher was trained in
history, history was the only subject he taught the students. For all other subjects, the students
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individually worked on worksheets. Students who had questions about how to complete
assignments could ask the teacher, who often did not know the answers to their questions
because he taught multiple subjects in which he had no expertise. The teacher told the students to
ask other students if they needed help. Brian Y. did not receive any extra help or educational
supports for his classes. Brian Y. did not receive any feedback or grades on his work, only
credits for completing the worksheets.
119.

Brian Y. also attended a supplemental class several nights per week for students

who received low scores on the TABE. Frequently, Brian Y. was given the same worksheets that
he had already completed in his regular classroom.
120.

NJDOC Defendants transferred Brian Y. to Garden State’s general population in

November of 2015, where his education consisted of attending classes for about five hours per
day. Students from all different grade levels were in the same classes, but unlike the youth unit,
classes were separated according to subject with different teachers for each. Rather than
differentiate instruction, most of the classwork consisted of individually working on worksheets
that were supposed to be at the student’s individual level. Brian Y. still did not receive any extra
help or educational supports.
121.

In January of 2016, Brian Y. was threatened with a disciplinary charge. While

waiting to hear whether he would receive a disciplinary charge, Brian Y. spent approximately
four days in “lock-up” in Garden State, during which he was prohibited from attending school at
all.
122.

Brian Y. received a disciplinary charge. Garden State failed to determine whether

the behavior was disability-related. No one considered his disability before locking him in
administrative segregation, or even whether administrative segregation was appropriate in light
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of his disability.
123.

Brian Y. was sent to administrative segregation at Wagner, where he spent about

six months. NJDOC Defendants failed to hold another IEP meeting as is required under IDEA
and Section 504 due to this “change in placement,” or to consider reasonable modifications to
avoid discrimination on the basis of disability as is required under the ADA and Section 504.
124.

For about the first month that Brian Y. spent in administrative segregation, he

received no education whatsoever.
125.

In early February of 2016, Wagner started a daily education program and other

services that Brian Y. attended, including a mental health support group that met twice per week.
126.

Brian Y.’s daily education program consisted of two hours of class time in a cage

in the middle of the unit. Brian Y. sat in the middle of the cage with the other students while one
teacher stood outside of the cage with a chalkboard. The teacher provided direct instruction
through the cage sporadically. There were no other instructors or academic supports in the cage.
The same worksheets were distributed to all of the students, regardless of grade level. If the
students needed help, they could ask the teacher questions through the cage. Brian Y. received no
substantive feedback on his work. This instruction did not include educational services as
required under IDEA and Section 504, and did not provide equal educational access as required
under the ADA and Section 504. The worksheets he received constitute neither educational
services (including special education) nor equal access to education.
127.

Brian Y. spoke with a mental health counselor during his time in administrative

segregation about his disabilities and the fact that administrative segregation and going to school
in a cage were exacerbating the symptoms of his disability.
128.

Because of his disabilities, Brian Y. was disproportionately burdened while in
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administrative segregation. Administrative segregation exacerbated his disabilities such that his
anger stemming from his mental disabilities grew worse, making it difficult for him to
concentrate. Both of these effects impacted not only his disability-related behavior while in
administrative segregation but made it more difficult to focus on any education that he was
offered. Administrative segregation also resulted in Brian Y. falling further behind in his
education since he was denied special education (and most other educational services) while in
administrative segregation. In fact, school in the cage did not offer the remaining courses that
Brian Y. needed to graduate, so he made no meaningful educational progress while attending
school in administrative segregation. Administrative segregation also takes away valuable time
for Brian Y. to receive special education because he is qualified for special education for a
limited time, i.e., until June 30 of the year in which he turns twenty-one. All of these impacts are
due to the fact that Brian Y. had disabilities while in administrative segregation.
129.

In July of 2016, Brian Y. was sent back to Garden State, where he was held for

about seven days in isolation in temporary close custody. He received no education services
during this time.
130.

After NJDOC Defendants sent Brian Y. to general population from temporary

close custody, he received no educational services for one week. Then Brian Y. attended class
five days per week and completed his remaining credits, but the classes continued to be deficient,
as previously described.
Casey Z.
131.

Plaintiff Casey Z. is a twenty-one-year-old who entered NJDOC custody in July

of 2015 when he was nineteen. Casey Z. remains in NJDOC custody currently and is subject to
the Defendants’ policies and practices discussed herein.
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132.

As a resident of NJSP at the time of filing, Casey Z. is qualified to participate in

the programs, services, and activities of NJDOC.
133.

Casey Z. has been diagnosed with a specific learning disability, one of the

disabilities covered by IDEA. He has also been diagnosed with ADHD, an adjustment disorder, a
conduct disorder, and was diagnosed with lead poisoning at the age of two. These impairments
substantially limit one or more of his major life activities, making him an individual with a
disability.
134.

Until recently, Casey Z. received Remeron, an antidepressant used to treat people

with a major depressive order, from NJDOC.
135.

Prior to Casey Z.’s arrest, he was hospitalized multiple times for mental-disability

related reasons.
136.

Casey Z. received special education services in his public middle and high

schools before entering NJDOC custody. He has been eligible for special education and related
services since elementary school. Until 2009, Casey Z. had a full-time personal aide throughout
his school day.
137.

Casey Z. was arrested in January of 2012 and had received an IEP shortly before

that time – in November of 2011 – from his local public high school that made him eligible for
special education and related services under the category of “specific learning disability.” His
academic levels in this 2011 IEP, based on a basic skills assessment, were well below his grade
level (6.6 in Math and 2.9 in Verbal-Reading Comprehension).
138.

Casey Z.’s 2011 IEP (1) provided for 160 minutes of instruction in a special

education setting for Language Arts, Math, Science, and Social Studies and (2) noted that Casey
Z.’s behavior “impedes his or her learning or that of others” and listed behavioral interventions
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to correct his irregular attendance, which included positive behavioral interventions and
supports.
139.

Casey Z. entered Essex County Juvenile Detention Center (“ECJDC”) in January

of 2012. Casey Z. was sixteen at the time. The JJC administered a TABE, which appeared to
show that Casey Z. was on an eighth grade reading level, sixth grade language arts level, and
fifth grade math level. ECJDC officials subsequently developed an IEP for Casey Z. on April 3,
2013, and he attended classes at ECJDC.
140.

According to Casey Z.’s science teacher at ECJDC, Casey Z. was “significantly

behind academically” at that time, Casey Z. “struggles” with reading comprehension, math,
verbal expression, and age and grade appropriate work. “[Casey Z.] is academically behind and,
of course, never benefits academically when he is removed from the educational setting due to
his misbehavior. [Casey Z.] benefits from a ‘one on one’ aid to help him with reading
comprehension.”
141.

Nevertheless, ECJDC placed Casey Z. in a full inclusion setting. Casey Z.’s new

IEP reduced his special education instruction from 160 minutes per day to zero, placed him in a
general education setting, eliminated all related services, and left the Proactive Behavior
Management Plan blank.
142.

By the time Casey Z. entered NJDOC custody in July of 2015, his long history of

receiving special education services should have put NJDOC Defendants on notice that Casey Z.
had special education needs.
143.

Despite Casey Z. having an IEP when he transferred into NJDOC custody,

Defendants failed to implement Casey Z.’s existing IEP or hold a valid Child Study Team
meeting. Casey Z. has not received special educational services at any point throughout his time
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in NJDOC custody and continues to be denied appropriate services, all in violation of IDEA,
Section 504, and the ADA.
144.

When Casey Z. entered NJDOC custody, he was transferred to NJSP in July of

2015, a facility that does not have the capacity to provide appropriate special education services.
145.

NJDOC Defendants gave Casey Z. the TABE on July 30, 2015 and enrolled him

in adult basic education classes at NJSP. Casey Z. attended classes every day for about four
hours. There were approximately eight other students in his class, one teacher, and two fellow
inmates who were supposed to help the students with their work. The students were all from
different grades. Casey Z. worked on worksheets. The teacher told Casey Z. that if he needed
help, he should ask the other inmates who served as tutors. There was very little direct
instruction, and Casey Z. did not receive any special education or related services.
146.

Even though NJDOC Defendants should have been aware of Casey Z.’s special

educational needs from his school records and JJC educational records, Casey Z. put Defendants
on notice in writing about his special educational needs at least three times between August 19
and December 16, 2015. In response, an NJSP official told Casey Z. that because of the length of
his prison sentence, prison is his last stop and he was not entitled to special education services.
147.

Cynthia Johnson, Assistant Superintendent of NJSP, later wrote that Casey Z. was

entitled to a FAPE, but said he was receiving one because he “received the same services as any
other student classified in need of special education.”
148.

After Casey Z.’s numerous grievances regarding the denial of special education

services, NJSP finally modified Casey Z.’s IEP in March of 2016, but even that IEP was
inadequate, in that it did not provide for the services it noted Casey Z. needs.
149.

Moreover, NJDOC Defendants did not even implement the modified IEP as
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Casey Z. remained in the same classroom without additional support.
150.

On two occasions, Casey Z. has received placement in administrative segregation

as a punishment, totaling more than six months. These punishments have been imposed without
any manifestation determination or IEP meeting for his change of placement, and without any
process to determine what educational services he required in his changed educational placement
as required by IDEA and Section 504, or without inquiry into whether the behavior was
disability-related and required reasonable modifications as required under the ADA and Section
504.
151.

When Casey Z. has been locked in administrative segregation, he has been put

there regardless of his disability. No one has tracked his disability status and need for reasonable
modifications. No one has inquired into whether his disabilities should have been considered in
locking him in administrative segregation, or even whether administrative segregation is
appropriate for him considering his disabilities.
152.

While in administrative segregation, the education he has received has ranged

from absolutely no services to worksheets in his cell every three to four days, without leaving his
cell for classes. Casey Z. reports that other students in administrative segregation attend school in
a cage on a different floor.
153.

In administrative segregation, Casey Z. has not been provided with educational

services, including special education, as required under IDEA and Section 504 and equal
educational access as required under the ADA and Section 504. The worksheets he received
constituted neither educational services (including special education) nor equal access to
education.
154.

Because of his disability, Casey Z. is disproportionately burdened while in
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administrative segregation. When he was first placed in administrative segregation, Casey Z.
experienced depression attributable to his worsening pre-existing mental disabilities. The
depression he suffered also interfered with his ability to focus. Administrative segregation also
results in Casey Z. falling further behind in his education since he is denied special education
(and most other educational services) while in administrative segregation. Administrative
segregation takes away valuable time for Casey Z. to receive special education because he is
qualified for special education for a limited time, i.e., until June 30 of the year in which he turns
twenty-one, making it much more difficult for him to receive a diploma. All of these impacts are
due to the fact that Casey Z. has a disability while in administrative segregation.
Organizational Plaintiff ACLU-NJ’s Allegations
155.

The Defendants’ actions have perceptibly impaired the ACLU-NJ’s mission by

requiring the ACLU-NJ to divert resources from other core mission areas – such as advocacy on
behalf of New Jerseyans’ First Amendment rights – in order to address the educational
deficiency the Defendants’ conduct has produced in NJDOC facilities.
156.

The ACLU-NJ learned of educational deprivation in JJC and NJDOC facilities

through its work on solitary confinement for juveniles, a core ACLU-NJ concern. At the time the
ACLU-NJ learned of this deprivation, no one on the ACLU-NJ’s staff had the capacity to
challenge the educational deficiencies in New Jersey prisons. Nevertheless, the ACLU-NJ
received phone calls seeking legal assistance from prisoners facing educational deprivations, the
issue was a concern to ACLU-NJ members, and the ACLU-NJ’s broad goal of improving
educational equality in New Jersey could not be met without addressing education in prisons. In
order to meet this need, in September of 2015 the ACLU-NJ diverted resources to hire a legal
fellow to address the education rights of incarcerated students. The ACLU-NJ legal staff
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included four lawyers before the fellow was hired, and so in hiring a fellow with a significant
focus on pursuing educational rights for incarcerated students, it devoted a substantial percent of
its legal staff time to this issue.
157.

Since that time, the ACLU-NJ has devoted considerable resources to representing

an individual plaintiff in an education action in the Office of Administrative Law against
NJDOC.
158.

An ACLU-NJ staff member has also conducted a training for volunteer lawyers to

represent incarcerated young people who wish to bring their educational claims against NJDOC.
159.

The ACLU-NJ has suffered an injury-in-fact because it has diverted resources

away from pursuing other elements of its mission in order to address the issue of inadequate
education for young people incarcerated in NJDOC facilities.
160.

In addition, if the ACLU-NJ did not divert resources to improve education within

facilities, its core mission generally would be negatively impacted. The ACLU-NJ has long
worked to ensure that conditions in prison meet constitutional standards, and in particular that
prison officials conform to requirements under the First and Eighth Amendments. Activities
within prisons are shielded from outside view, and so in identifying and addressing constitutional
violations within prisons, the ACLU-NJ relies on people within those prisons to alert the
organization to violations. Prisoners’ abilities to identify violations and locate the ACLU-NJ as a
source for litigation to remedy injuries is dramatically improved when they have received an
adequate high school education, including meaningful instruction in reading, writing, and critical
reasoning. In the absence of such instruction, the ACLU-NJ’s ability to identify and remedy
constitutional violations within NJDOC prisons will be significantly reduced.
161.

The injury of having to divert resources to address the dearth of adequate
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education in prisons is directly traceable to the actions of NJDOC Defendants in failing to
provide adequate education for students with special education needs and to the actions of
NJDOE Defendants in failing to oversee NJDOC Defendants’ provision of education.
162.

This injury is redressable by the Defendants. If NJDOC Defendants adequately

provided, and NJDOE Defendants adequately supervised, education to students with special
education needs in NJDOC facilities, the ACLU-NJ would re-direct resources toward its other
priority areas.
163.

The ACLU-NJ also has members who have suffered injury due to Defendants’

actions and inactions. These members are incarcerated young people in adult facilities who are
denied special education and equal access to special education and who have been locked in
administrative segregation regardless of their disabilities. Members also include parents of young
people with disabilities who can pursue their children’s claims for denial of special education
and equal access to education on behalf of their children.
164.

These members are directly injured by NJDOC Defendants’ practices – for those

members who are students themselves, the time in NJDOC custody is often their last opportunity
to receive a high school education responsive to their special education needs. When NJDOC
Defendants fail to provide such an education and NJDOE Defendants fail to ensure that they do
so, these young people are deprived of their right to such an education. The injuries they suffer
are described further below.
165.

These members would have standing to sue in their own right, and the injuries

they experience are germane to the purpose of the ACLU-NJ, as described above.
166.

Moreover, because Plaintiffs seek relief for system-wide failures by the

Defendants to comply with laws concerning special education, these claims are not redressable
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through individual actions and instead require system-wide resolution. As a result, neither the
claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of individual members in the
suit.
Organizational Plaintiff The Arc of NJ’s Allegations
167.

The Arc of NJ works to advance the human rights of New Jerseyans with

intellectual and/or developmental disabilities, and in particular, to increase the employability and
independence of the people it serves. An appropriate education while incarcerated is critical for
young people with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities to be successful in finding
employment and living independently after they are released from prison.
168.

Among its efforts, in 1985, The Arc of NJ started the Developmentally Disabled

Offenders Program, now known as the Criminal Justice Advocacy Program (“CJAP”). CJAP
undertakes a range of different advocacy tools to improve the treatment of people with
intellectual and/or developmental disabilities in the criminal justice system, including, but not
limited to, providing training, individual case management, and education.
169.

The Defendants’ actions have perceptibly impaired The Arc of NJ’s mission by

requiring The Arc of NJ to divert resources from other core mission areas, including providing
alternatives to incarceration for people with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities, in
order to address the Defendants’ failures to appropriately evaluate, track, and provide appropriate
educational services to young people with disabilities in NJDOC facilities.
170.

The impact of NJDOC Defendants’ failures to evaluate, track, and provide

appropriate educational services for young people with intellectual and/or developmental
disabilities detrimentally impacts a number of The Arc of NJ’s priorities, including ensuring that
all of the people it serves receive FAPE, all of the people it serves who are incarcerated receive
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reasonable accommodations, and all of the people it serves who have criminal histories are able
to obtain employment.
171.

The Arc of NJ has been aware of and working to respond to the Defendants’

failure to appropriately evaluate young people with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities
for at least five years. In 2012, staff from The Arc of NJ convened a meeting with NJDOC staff
members about NJDOC Defendants’ lack of appropriate evaluation policies and procedures to
identify young people with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities. NJDOC Defendants
refused to improve these policies and procedures. NJDOC’s illegal policies and procedures are
still in place today.
172.

Because of NJDOC Defendants’ refusal to improve its evaluation policies and

procedures, The Arc of NJ continues to divert resources to track individuals with intellectual
and/or developmental disabilities who are involved with the criminal justice system, including
young people incarcerated by NJDOC Defendants, and facilitating the exchange of information
so people with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities get appropriate services while in
NJDOC custody, including educational services.
173.

In addition, The Arc of NJ has suffered an injury-in-fact because Defendants’

failure to provide appropriate educational services, including effective transition services, to
young people with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities forces The Arc of NJ to expend
more resources to provide occupational training and career guidance for these young people for
jobs upon release from prison. As a result, The Arc of NJ’s other programs have suffered. For
example, because of the Defendants’ failure to appropriately identify, track, and provide
educational services to young people with disabilities, The Arc of NJ has had fewer resources for
its CJAP program, which focuses solely on those who are twenty-one and older, because it
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instead must allocate resources that would otherwise go to CJAP to help serve people who are
under twenty-one.
174.

The injury of having to divert resources to address the inadequate evaluation

policies and procedures and inappropriate educational services in prisons is directly traceable to
the actions of NJDOC Defendants in failing to appropriately identify, track, and provide
adequate education for young people with disabilities and to the actions of NJDOE Defendants in
failing to oversee NJDOC Defendants’ provision of these services.
175.

This injury is redressable by the Defendants. If NJDOC Defendants adequately

evaluated, tracked, and provided, and NJDOE Defendants adequately supervised, education to
students with disabilities in NJDOC facilities, The Arc of NJ would re-direct resources toward its
other priority areas.
CAUSES OF ACTION
Count I
Violation of Individuals with Disabilities Education Act
(20 U.S.C. § 1400, et seq.)
176.

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained in the

foregoing paragraphs as if specifically alleged herein.
177.

Under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, students with disabilities

are entitled to receive a free appropriate public education. 20 U.S.C. § 1400(d)(1)(a).
178.

IDEA defines a child with a disability as a child “with intellectual disabilities,

hearing impairments (including deafness), speech or language impairments, visual impairments
(including blindness), serious emotional disturbance … orthopedic impairments, autism,
traumatic brain injury, other health impairments, or specific learning disabilities … who, by
reason thereof, needs special education and related services.” 20 U.S.C. § 1401(3).
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179.

Each of the named individual plaintiffs has a mental disability as defined under

IDEA. The Plaintiff Class is defined to be a subset of eligible students under IDEA, namely
those with mental disabilities, including disabilities such as a serious emotional disturbance,
autism, and specific learning disabilities. Therefore, Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Class qualify as
students with disabilities for the purposes of IDEA.
180.

As a public agency, NJDOC has a duty to provide FAPE to all school-eligible

persons with disabilities under the age of eighteen who are incarcerated in adult correctional
facilities, 34 C.F.R. 300.2(b), and all school-eligible persons with disabilities between the ages of
eighteen and twenty-one who were either “identified as a child with a disability under § 300.8
and had received services in accordance with an IEP, but who left school prior to their
incarceration; or [d]id not have an IEP in their last educational setting, but who had actually been
identified as a child with a disability under § 300.8.” 34 C.F.R. § 300.102(a)(2)(ii); 20 U.S.C. §
1412(a)(1)(B); see also N.J.A.C. 6A:17-3.
181.

NJDOE Defendants have failed to meet their obligations of ensuring that NJDOC

Defendants comply with state and federal education laws for incarcerated students with special
education needs.
182.

IDEA and state implementing regulations require NJDOC Defendants to meet

certain obligations including, but not limited to:
a) Obtaining education records in a timely manner when a student
transfers into a facility, N.J.A.C. 6A:14-4.1;
b) Providing a free appropriate public education to all students with
disabilities, 20 U.S.C. § 1400(d)(1)(a), in the least restrictive
environment, 34 C.F.R. §§ 300.550–300.556;
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c) Identifying, locating, and evaluating students with disabilities, 20
U.S.C. § 1412(a)(3); 34 C.F.R. § 300.111(a);
d) Upon identification, conducting a full and individual initial evaluation
before initially providing special education and related services, and
thereafter a re-evaluation every three years, 20 U.S.C. § 1414(a)(1)(A),
(2)(B), or whenever educational or related services needs, including
improved academic achievement or functional performance, call for it,
34 C.F.R. § 300.303(a);
e) Developing and implementing an appropriate Individualized Education
Program for each child with a disability, in accordance with 20 U.S.C.
§ 1414(d);
f) Holding meetings to review and revise the IEP as required by 20
U.S.C. § 1414(d)(4);
g) Holding Child Study Team meetings (consisting of a school
psychologist, a learning disabilities teacher/consultant, and a school
social worker) to evaluate a student and develop, review and/or modify
a student’s IEP, N.J.A.C. 6A:14-2.3; 3.1; 34 C.F.R. § 300.344–45;
h) Providing “related services” that a child with a disability may need in
order to benefit from their education, 20 U.S.C. § 1401(26)(A);
i) Offering a continuum of alternative placements to meet the needs of
students with disabilities for special education and related services, 34
C.F.R. § 300.115;
j) When students with an IEP enter a new school district, providing
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“comparable services” to their previous IEP for thirty days and then
either adopting the prior IEP or developing, adopting, and
implementing a new IEP, 20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(2)(C); 34 C.F.R. §
300.323(e);
k) Providing transition services for students who will leave NJDOC
custody before the month of June after they turn twenty-one, 20 U.S.C.
§ 1412(a)(1)(A); id. at 1414(d)(7)(A)(ii);
l) If behavior leads to removal from school for more than ten days or to
removal for less than ten days but is based on behavior that constitutes
a pattern, continuing to provide educational services so as to enable the
child to continue to participate in the general education curriculum, 34
C.F.R. § 300.530(d)(1)(i), and convening an immediate IEP meeting to
determine if the behavior is a manifestation of the student’s disability,
20 U.S.C. § 1415(k); 34 C.F.R. § 300.530(e); 34 C.F.R. §
300.536(a)(2);
m) If the behavior is a manifestation of disability, (1) conducting a
functional

behavior/analysis

assessment

and

implementing

a

behavioral intervention plan; or (2) reviewing and modifying an
existing behavioral intervention plan; and (3) returning the student to a
placement from which he or she was removed, except in certain
circumstances, 20 U.S.C. § 1415(k)(1)(f); 34 C.F.R. § 300.530(f)–(g),
and if the behavior was not a manifestation of disability, providing
FAPE and services to the student no later than the eleventh cumulative

44

Case 3:17-cv-00188-FLW-LHG Document 26 Filed 04/07/17 Page 45 of 60 PageID: 206

day of removal, 20 U.S.C. § 1415(k)(1)(C); 34 C.F.R. § 300.530(c);
and
n) If the IEP team determines that the child presents “a bona fide security
or compelling penological interest that cannot otherwise be
accommodated,” 34 C.F.R. § 300.324(d)(2), modifying the IEP to
maintain appropriate educational services.
183.

By failing to identify, evaluate, recommend, and then provide a FAPE (including

appropriate IEPs, special education, and related services to eligible students in NJDOC custody),
and by failing to provide procedural safeguards specified in the statute implementing IDEA
(including manifestation determinations), Defendants have impeded students’ rights to a free
appropriate public education and/or have deprived students of educational benefits.
184.

Similarly, by failing to meet IDEA requirements, including providing FAPE, to

students with disabilities who are locked in administrative segregation, NJDOC Defendants have
impeded students’ rights to a free appropriate public education and/or deprived students of
educational benefits. NJDOE Defendants have failed to provide adequate oversight and
monitoring to prevent these shortcomings, and so have violated their obligations under IDEA.
185.

As a result, Defendants have violated and continue to violate rights secured by 20

U.S.C. §§ 1400 et seq., and its implementing regulations at 34 C.F.R. §§ 300 et seq.
186.

Because Defendants’ discriminatory and wrongful conduct is ongoing,

declaratory and injunctive relief are appropriate remedies. Further, as a direct result of
Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class are suffering irreparable harm,
including lost education opportunities. Therefore, speedy and immediate relief is appropriate.
187.

Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief as well as reasonable
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attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this action under 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(3).
Count II
Violation of Americans with Disabilities Act
(42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.)
188.

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained in the

foregoing paragraphs as if specifically alleged herein.
189.

Title II of the ADA states, in pertinent part:
[N]o qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be
excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs,
or activities of a public entity, or subjected to discrimination by any such entity.
42 U.S.C. § 12132.

190.

A “public entity” includes state and local governments, their agencies, and their

instrumentalities. 42 U.S.C. § 12131(1).
191.

Defendants were, at all times relevant to this action, and currently are “public

entities” within the meaning of Title II of the ADA.
192.

Defendants provided and provide “services, programs and activities” including

educational programs, services, and activities in NJDOC facilities.
193.

The term “disability” includes physical and mental impairments that substantially

limit one or more major life activities. 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2). A “‘qualified individual with a
disability’ means an individual with a disability who, with or without reasonable modifications to
rules, policies, or practices … meets the essential eligibility requirements for the receipt of
services or the participation in programs or activities provided by a public entity.” 42 U.S.C. §
12131(2).
194.

Plaintiffs Adam X., Brian Y. and Casey Z., and all others similarly situated were,

at all times relevant to this action, and are currently “qualified individuals with disabilities”
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within the meaning of Title II of the ADA. They all have impairments that substantially limit a
major life activity, and they are all incarcerated in NJDOC facilities and, thus, qualified – with or
without reasonable modification – to participate in the programs, services, and activities of
NJDOC facilities.
195.

Defendants have violated the rights of Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff

Class secured by Title II of the ADA and its implementing regulations. See 42 U.S.C. § 12134;
28 C.F.R. § 35.101 et seq.
196.

Defendants have denied Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class equal access

to education when they have provided absolutely no educational services, including those needed
by youth with disabilities. Such times include those when Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff
Class are in various types of administrative segregation. Similarly, while awaiting disposition on
their disciplinary charges in lock-up areas, Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class are
denied educational services of any kind. Additionally, when Plaintiffs and members of the
Plaintiff Class are placed in CRAF, they receive no educational services whatsoever. This
conduct violates, among other provisions, 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1)(i).
197.

Even when educational services are offered either in the schools or in

administrative segregation, the opportunity to benefit from the educational services that are
offered is not equal to or the educational services are not as effective in affording equal
opportunity as those offered to non-disabled students. This conduct violates, among other
provisions, 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1)(ii).
198.

Defendants fail to provide Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class with the

educational services they require, because of their disabilities, that are as effective as those
services available to their non-disabled peers in affording youth with disabilities equal
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opportunity: (1) to obtain the same result, (2) to gain the same benefit, and (3) to reach the same
level of achievement as their non-disabled peers. Providing worksheets to youth with disabilities
who struggle to read, let alone grasp new concepts, results only in frustration, not education. As
such, the educational services offered in NJDOC facilities are not sufficient to provide equal
access to education for Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class. This conduct violates,
among other provisions, 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1)(iii).
199.

NJDOC Defendants do not appropriately consider the disability-related

educational needs of youths when assigning them to be housed in various facilities. As a result,
youth with disabilities are placed in facilities that cannot provide equal access to education
regardless of their disability-related educational needs. 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1)(vii).
200.

Defendants fail to make reasonable modifications to their policies, practices, and

procedures even though these modifications are necessary to avoid discriminating against
Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class, in violation of 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(7).
201.

Specifically, NJDOC Defendants fail to make reasonable modifications to their

educational services to ensure that youth with disabilities have equal access to education. Such
reasonable modifications may include, but not be limited to, providing additional qualified
instructors in the classroom, one-on-one tutoring, and assistance in completing assignments.
202.

NJDOC Defendants have adopted and implemented policies and practices with

regard to administrative segregation that place a disproportionate burden on Plaintiffs and
members of the Plaintiff Class. Specifically, NJDOC Defendants impose and apply eligibility
criteria by providing more robust educational services to youth who are not locked in any type of
administrative segregation. Such eligibility criteria tend to screen out youth with disabilities from
equally enjoying Defendants’ educational services. Administrative segregation exacerbates their
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disabilities and causes youth with disabilities to fall further behind in their education because the
educational services, or lack thereof, offered in administrative segregation are inadequate and
because every day young people spend in administrative segregation is one day less that they
have of legally required special education. This conduct violates, among other provisions, 28
C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(8).
203.

NJDOC Defendants use methods of administration that have the effect of

subjecting Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class to discrimination by reason of their
disability because NJDOC Defendants fail to identify and track Plaintiffs and members of the
Plaintiff Class who require reasonable modifications, inquire into whether the behaviors leading
to discipline are disability-related in assigning consequences, and consider whether certain
disciplinary measures are appropriate for youth with disabilities. Moreover, administrative
segregation for young people with disabilities only exacerbates these disabilities and puts young
people further behind in their education. As such, these methods of administration also have the
purpose and effect of defeating or substantially impairing accomplishments of the objectives of
Defendants’ educational services with respect to Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class
because these young people with disabilities are denied equal access to education. This conduct
violates, among other provisions, 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(3)(i) and (ii).
204.

NJDOC Defendants and NJDOE Defendants aid and perpetuate discrimination

against persons with disabilities in their programs, services, or activities by maintaining policies
and practices that allow for discrimination by each Defendant and that permit the discrimination
of the other co-Defendant to continue unchecked, in violation of 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1)(v).
205.

Defendants also violate the ADA’s integration mandate by failing to provide

services in the most integrated setting appropriate for students with disabilities, in violation of 28
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C.F.R. § 35.130(d), see also 28 C.F.R. § 35.152, by keeping students in administrative
segregation, where they are more likely to receive services in a population that
disproportionately includes people with disabilities.
206.

Because Defendants’ discriminatory and wrongful conduct is ongoing,

declaratory and injunctive relief are appropriate remedies. Further, as a direct result of
Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class are suffering irreparable harm,
including lost education opportunities. Therefore, speedy and immediate relief is appropriate.
207.

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 12133, Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive

relief as well as reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this action under 42
U.S.C. § 12205.
Count III
Violation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973
(29 U.S.C. § 794)
208.

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained in the

foregoing paragraphs as if specifically alleged herein.
209.

Section 504 provides, in pertinent part:
No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States … shall,
solely by reason of his or her disability, be excluded from the participation in, be
denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or
activity receiving federal financial assistance[.] 29 U.S.C. § 794(a).

210.

Each Defendant was, at all times relevant to this action, and is currently a

recipient of federal financial assistance within the meaning of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation
Act, and each Defendant provided and provides a “program or activity” where “program or
activity” is described as “all the operations of” the recipient, which includes the educational
programs and activities in NJDOC facilities. 29 U.S.C. § 794(b).
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211.

Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class were, at all times relevant to this

action, and are currently “otherwise qualified individuals with disabilities” within the meaning of
Section 504. They all have impairments that substantially limit a major life activity, and they
were and/or are all incarcerated in NJDOC facilities and qualified—with or without reasonable
modification—to participate in the educational services of NJDOC facilities.
212.

Defendants have violated the rights of Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff

Class secured by Section 504 and its implementing regulations. See 28 C.F.R. § 41.1.
213.

The denial of educational services includes times when there are no educational

services whatsoever, including those needed by persons with disabilities. Such times include
those when Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class are in various types of administrative
segregation. Similarly, while awaiting disposition on their disciplinary charges in lock-up areas,
Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class are completely denied educational services.
Additionally, when Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class are placed in CRAF, they
receive no educational services whatsoever. This conduct violates, among other provisions, 45
C.F.R. § 84.4(b)(1)(i).
214.

Even when educational services are offered either in the schools or in

administrative segregation, the opportunity to benefit from the educational services that are
offered is not equal to or the educational services are not as effective in affording equal
opportunity as those offered to non-disabled students. This conduct violates, among other
provisions, 45 C.F.R. § 84.4(b)(1)(ii).
215.

Defendants fail to provide Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class with the

necessary educational services because of their disabilities that are as effective in affording youth
with disabilities equal opportunity to obtain the same result, to gain the same benefit, and to
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reach the same level of achievement as their non-disabled peers. For instance, providing
worksheets without instruction may offer some (albeit limited) education to non-disabled youth;
but providing worksheets to youth with disabilities who struggle to read, let alone grasp new
concepts, results only in frustration, not education. As such, the educational services offered in
NJDOC facilities are not sufficient to provide equal access to education for Plaintiffs and
members of the Plaintiff Class. This conduct violates, among other provisions, 45 C.F.R. §
84.4(b)(1)(iii).
216.

Even in its other programs, services, and activities, NJDOC Defendants violate

Section 504 regulations. NJDOC Defendants do not appropriately consider the disability-related
educational needs of young people with disabilities when assigning them to be housed at various
facilities. As a result, young people with disabilities are placed in facilities that cannot provide
equal access to education regardless of their disability-related educational needs. This conduct
violates, among other provisions, 45 C.F.R. § 84.4(b)(1)(vii).
217.

Defendants fail to make reasonable modifications to their policies, practices, and

procedures even though such modifications are necessary to avoid discriminating against
Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class in violation of Section 504.
218.

Specifically, NJDOC Defendants fail to make reasonable modifications to their

educational services to ensure that youth with disabilities have equal access to education. Such
reasonable modifications may include, but not be limited to, providing additional qualified
instructors in the classroom, one-on-one tutoring, and assistance in completing assignments.
219.

NJDOC Defendants use methods of administration, including, but not limited to,

denying educational services while youth with disabilities are in administrative segregation, that
have the effect of subjecting Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class to discrimination by
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reason of their disability because NJDOC Defendants fail to identify and track Plaintiffs and
members of the Plaintiff Class who require reasonable modifications, inquire into whether the
behaviors leading to discipline are disability-related in assigning consequences, and consider
whether certain disciplinary measures are appropriate for youth with disabilities. Moreover,
administrative segregation for young people with disabilities only exacerbates young people’s
disabilities and puts them further behind in their education. As a result, these methods of
administration also have the purpose and effect of defeating or substantially impairing
accomplishments of the objectives of Defendants’ educational services with respect to Plaintiffs
and members of the Plaintiff Class because they are denied equal access to education. This
conduct violates, among other provisions, 45 C.F.R. § 84.4(b)(4)(i) and (ii).
220.

Defendants aid and perpetuate discrimination against persons with disabilities in

Defendants’ programs, services or activities by maintaining policies and practices that allow for
discrimination and that permit the discrimination of each co-Defendant to continue unchecked, in
violation of 45 C.F.R. § 84.4(b)(1)(v).
221.

Defendants deny Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class FAPE as secured

by Section 504’s regulations by:
a) Failing to identify and locate all qualified handicapped persons in the
Defendants’ jurisdiction, 45 C.F.R. § 84.32(a);
b) Failing to provide a free appropriate public education to each qualified
handicapped person who is in NJDOC’s custody or jurisdiction, 45
C.F.R. § 84.33(a);
c) Failing to provide special education and related aids and services that
are designed to meet the individual educational needs of handicapped
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persons as adequately as the needs of non-handicapped persons are
met, 45 C.F.R. § 84.33(b).
222.

Because Defendants’ discriminatory conduct is ongoing, declaratory relief and

injunctive relief are appropriate remedies. Further, as a direct result of Defendants’ actions,
Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff Class are suffering irreparable harm, including lost
educational opportunities. Therefore, speedy and immediate relief is appropriate.
223.

Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive

relief and to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this action.
Count IV
Violation of the New Jersey Civil Rights Act
(N.J.S.A. 10:6-1, et seq.)
224.

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the foregoing

paragraphs as if specifically alleged herein.
225.

Under the New Jersey Civil Rights Act, “Any person who has been deprived of

… any substantive rights, privileges or immunities secured by the Constitution or laws of this
State … may bring a civil action for damages and for injunctive or other appropriate relief.”
N.J.S.A. 10:6-2(c).
226.

Because of the actions of Defendants, as described herein, Plaintiffs have been

deprived of their rights to equal protection and due process of law protected by Article I,
Paragraph 1 of the New Jersey Constitution, which provides that “[a]ll persons are by nature free
and independent, and have certain natural and unalienable rights, among which are those of
enjoying and defending life and liberty, of acquiring, possessing, and protecting property, and of
pursuing and obtaining safety and happiness.”
227.

In addition to deprivations of constitutional rights, Defendants have deprived
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Plaintiffs of their statutory rights. As described herein, Plaintiffs have been deprived of their
right to due process under the SFEA, which provides that the “due process rights available to
children, parents and guardians in the public schools on matters of educational classification or
educational program shall be available to children, parents and guardians in State facilities.”
N.J.S.A. 10A:7B-7(c).
228.

Plaintiffs have been further deprived of their rights by the Defendants who have

failed to provide a sufficient system of administrative reviews, including meetings between
pupils and NJDOC Director of Educational Services, to review educational classification and
educational programs in violation of the SFEA. N.J.S.A. 18A:7B-7(b).
229.

Plaintiffs also have been deprived by NJDOE Defendants, who, as described

herein, have failed to review the operations of NJDOC educational programs and remediate
programs that do not meet regulatory standards, in violation of the SFEA. N.J.S.A. 18A:7B-5.
230.

Chapter 14 of N.J.A.C. 6A governs special education in New Jersey, and N.J.A.C.

6A:14-8 concerns special education programs operated by NJDOC Defendants. N.J.A.C. 6A:148 provides that “[s]pecial education programs provided in State facilities shall be operated in
accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:17-3 and the requirements of this chapter.” N.J.A.C. 6A:17-3
governs “Educational Programs for Students in State Facilities.”
231.

Both Chapter 14 and Chapter 17 of N.J.A.C. 6A require NJDOC Defendants to

provide education to students in their custody in conformity with IDEA, the ADA, and Section
504.
232.

In violation of N.J.A.C. 6A:14 and 17, the Defendants have failed to, inter alia,

obtain student records when students enter NJDOC custody in order to identify youth who have
been receiving special education or youth who should be receiving special education, convene
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appropriate educational planning meetings, timely adopt or develop new IEPs, provide education
for an adequate amount of time each day, provide academic content conforming to state
standards, provide education in the least restrictive environment, provide a comparable education
program to the programs outlined in students’ IEPs, conduct manifestation determinations before
imposing discipline, conduct IEP meetings when discipline-related detention removes students
from their normal academic instruction, provide education consistent with a student’s IEP when
he is removed from his normal classroom for disciplinary reasons, and timely work with school
districts to help students obtain diplomas. As a result of these procedural violations of the New
Jersey Administrative Code, NJDOC Defendants have failed to provide a FAPE to students in
their facilities who are entitled to special education and have violated students’ equal protection
and due process rights under Article I, Paragraph 1 of the New Jersey Constitution.
233.

As described herein, these violations and the resulting harms are consequences of

Defendants’ policies and practices.
234.

Because of these violations of education regulations, and pursuant to N.J.S.A.

10:6-2(b), Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief and to recover from
Defendants the reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this action.
Count V
Violation of the New Jersey Law Against Discrimination
(N.J.S.A. 10:5-1, et seq.)
235.

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the foregoing

paragraphs as if specifically alleged herein.
236.

Plaintiffs Adam X., Brian Y., and Casey Z., and all students similarly situated are

qualified individuals with disabilities and are disabled within the meaning of the New Jersey
Law Against Discrimination. N.J.S.A. 10:5-1 to 14.1.
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237.

Under NJLAD, N.J.S.A. 10:5-1 et seq.,
All persons shall have the opportunity to obtain employment, and to obtain all the
accommodations, advantages, facilities, and privileges of any place of public
accommodation, publicly assisted housing accommodation, and other real property
without discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, age,
marital status, affectional or sexual orientation, familial status, disability, nationality,
sex, gender identity or expression or source of lawful income used for rental or
mortgage payments, subject only to conditions and limitations applicable alike to all
persons. This opportunity is recognized as and declared to be a civil right.
N.J.S.A. 10:5-4.

238.

Educational services in NJDOC facilities are accommodations, advantages, and

privileges offered by Defendants.
239.

NJLAD is interpreted identically to the ADA, and Plaintiffs thus specifically

incorporate paragraphs 188-207 in support of their claims under NJLAD.
240.

Pursuant to N.J.S.A. 10:5-13, Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive

relief as well as reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this action.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
Wherefore, Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of the class they represent, ask the Court to:
1.

Order that Plaintiffs may maintain this action as a class action pursuant to Rule

23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure;
2.

Order and declare that the Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein has violated, and

continues to violate, IDEA, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1400 et seq., and accompanying regulations; the ADA,
42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq., and accompanying regulations; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation
Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794, and accompanying regulations; NJCRA, 10:6-1 et seq., and accompanying
regulations; and NJLAD, 10:5-1 et seq., and accompanying regulations;
3.

Preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendants from violating IDEA, 20 U.S.C.

§§ 1400 et seq., and accompanying regulations; the ADA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq., and
accompanying regulations; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794, and
accompanying regulations; NJCRA, 10:6-1 et seq., and accompanying regulations; and NJLAD,
10:5-1 et seq., and accompanying regulations;
4.

Order Defendants to provide Plaintiffs and the members of the Plaintiff Class:
a. a free appropriate public education and equal educational access for all
students with disabilities and compliance with all special education laws that
protect such students; and
b. appropriate and equal educational services to all students with disabilities who
are in administrative segregation for any amount of time or who are subject to
disciplinary measures that interfere with educational services for any amount
of time;

5.

Order the appointment of a monitor with expertise in the provision of special
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education services to oversee the implementation of the above-listed systems, processes, and
mechanisms, and grant the monitor authority to administer specific programs and activities of
Defendants as may be necessary to ensure the provision of educational services to Plaintiffs and
members of the Plaintiff Class;
6.

Retain jurisdiction of this case until Defendants have complied with the orders of

this Court, and there is a reasonable assurance that Defendants will continue to comply in the
future, absent continuing jurisdiction;
7.

Award Plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs, as provided by statute and law; and

8.

Any such other relief as the Court finds just and proper.

Dated: April 7, 2017

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES
UNION OF NEW JERSEY
FOUNDATION
BY: s/ Rebecca Livengood
Edward L. Barocas
Jeanne LoCicero
Rebecca Livengood
PO Box 32159
Newark, New Jersey 07102
(973) 854-1733
Mary-Lee K. Smith*
Seth Packrone*
DISABILITY RIGHTS ADVOCATES
675 Third Avenue, Suite 2216
New York, NY 10017
(212) 644-8644
Brian L. Friedman*
William C. Silverman*
PROSKAUER ROSE LLP
Eleven Times Square
New York, NY 10036-8299
(212) 969-3000
*Admitted Pro Hac Vice
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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LOCAL CIVIL RULE 11.2 CERTIFICATION
The matter in controversy is not the subject of any other action pending in any court, or
of any pending arbitration or administrative proceeding. I certify under penalty of perjury that
the foregoing is true and correct.
Dated: April 7, 2017

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES
UNION OF NEW JERSEY
FOUNDATION
BY: s/ Rebecca Livengood
Edward L. Barocas
Jeanne LoCicero
Rebecca Livengood
89 Market Street, 7th floor
PO Box 32159
Newark, New Jersey 07102
(973) 854-1733
Mary-Lee K. Smith*
Seth Packrone*
DISABILITY RIGHTS ADVOCATES
675 Third Avenue, Suite 2216
New York, NY 10017
(212) 644-8644
Brian L. Friedman*
William C. Silverman*
PROSKAUER ROSE LLP
Eleven Times Square
New York, NY 10036-8299
(212) 969-3000
*Admitted Pro Hac Vice
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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USA
973-854-1725 Email:Ehuertas@aclu-Nj.Org
JEANNE LOCICERO
LEAD ATTORNEY;ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION OF NEW JERSEY
FOUNDATION
89 Market Street, 7th Floor P.O. Box 32159
Newark, NJ 07102
USA
973-854-1715 Fax: 973-642-6523 Email:Jlocicero@acluNj.Org
JOSEPH C. O'KEEFE
LEAD ATTORNEY;ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
PROSKAUER ROSE LLP
11 Times Square
New York, NY 10036-8299
USA
(212)969-3019 Fax: 212.969.2900
Email:Jokeefe@proskauer.Com
REBECCA JANE LIVENGOOD
LEAD ATTORNEY
[Terminated: 10/31/2017]
ACLU-NJ
P.O. Box 32159
Newark, NJ 07102
USA
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Litigants

Attorneys
973-642-2084 Email:Rlivengood@gmail.Com

New Jersey Department of Corrections
Defendant

GARY LANNIGAN
in his official capacity as Commissioner of the New Jersey
Department of Corrections |
Defendant

New Jersey Department of Education
Defendant

TESS MEILING BORDEN
LEAD ATTORNEY;ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
[Terminated: 04/08/2022]
AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION OF NJ
89 Market St Po Box 32159
Newark, NJ 07102
USA
973-854-1733 Email:Tborden@aclu-Nj.Org
GREGORY R. BUENO
LEAD ATTORNEY;ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
State Of New Jersey 25 Market Street P.O. Box 112
Trenton, NJ 08625
USA
609-376-2948
MICHAEL EZRA VOMACKA
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
NEW JERSEY OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
25 Market St. P.O. Box 112
Trenton, NJ 08625
USA
609-376-2440 Email:Michael.Vomacka@law.Njoag.Gov
GREGORY R. BUENO
LEAD ATTORNEY;ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
State Of New Jersey 25 Market Street P.O. Box 112
Trenton, NJ 08625
USA
609-376-2948
MICHAEL EZRA VOMACKA
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
NEW JERSEY OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
25 Market St. P.O. Box 112
Trenton, NJ 08625
USA
609-376-2440 Email:Michael.Vomacka@law.Njoag.Gov
AIMEE ROUSSEAU
LEAD ATTORNEY;ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
STATE OF NEW JERSEY
Office Of The Attorney General 25 Market Street Pox Box
112
Trenton, NJ 08625
USA
732-575-3934
GREGORY R. BUENO
LEAD ATTORNEY;ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
State Of New Jersey 25 Market Street P.O. Box 112
Trenton, NJ 08625
USA
609-376-2948
MICHAEL EZRA VOMACKA
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Litigants

Attorneys

Kimberly Harrington
in her official capacity as Acting Commissioner of the New
Jersey Department of Education |
Defendant

ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
NEW JERSEY OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
25 Market St. P.O. Box 112
Trenton, NJ 08625
USA
609-376-2440 Email:Michael.Vomacka@law.Njoag.Gov
GREGORY R. BUENO
LEAD ATTORNEY;ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
State Of New Jersey 25 Market Street P.O. Box 112
Trenton, NJ 08625
USA
609-376-2948
MICHAEL EZRA VOMACKA
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
NEW JERSEY OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
25 Market St. P.O. Box 112
Trenton, NJ 08625
USA
609-376-2440 Email:Michael.Vomacka@law.Njoag.Gov

Rebecca Rodgers
Defendant

Proceedings
#
1

Date
01/11/2017

2

01/11/2017

01/11/2017
3

01/11/2017

01/11/2017

01/12/2017

Proceeding Text
COMPLAINT against NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF
CORRECTIONS, GARY LANNIGAN, NEW JERSEY
DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, KIMBERLY HARRINGTON (
Filing and Admin fee $ 400 receipt number 0312-7583357), filed
by CASEY Z., AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION OF NEW
JERSEY, ADAM X., BRIAN Y.. (Attachments: # 1 Civil Cover
Sheet)(LIVENGOOD, REBECCA) (Attachment 1 replaced on
1/12/2017) (gl) (Entered: 01/11/2017)
First MOTION To Proceed Under Pseudonym by ADAM X.,
BRIAN Y., CASEY Z.. (Attachments: # 1 Text of Proposed Order,
# 2 Brief)(LIVENGOOD, REBECCA) (Entered: 01/11/2017)
Judge Freda L. Wolfson and Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman
added. (jjc) (Entered: 01/11/2017)
SUMMONS ISSUED as to KIMBERLY HARRINGTON, GARY
LANNIGAN, NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,
NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION Attached is the
official court Summons, please fill out Defendant and Plaintiff's
attorney information and serve. Issued By *John Moller* (jem)
(Entered: 01/11/2017)
CLERK'S QUALITY CONTROL MESSAGE - The Complaint
submitted by Rebecca Livengood, Esq. on 1/11/2017 appears to
have address information as to Rebecca Livengood, Esq. that
does not match the court's records for this case. Please refer to
the court's website at www.njd.uscourts.gov for information and
instructions on maintaining your account. (jem) (Entered:
01/11/2017)
Set Deadlines as to 2 First MOTION To Proceed Under
Pseudonym . Motion set for 2/6/2017 before Judge Freda L.
Wolfson. Unless otherwise directed by the Court, this motion will
be decided on the papers and no appearances are required. Note

Source

Page 7 of 22
3:17cv188, X. Et Al V. New Jersey Department Of Corrections Et Al
#

Date

4

01/18/2017

5

01/20/2017

01/23/2017

01/23/2017

6

01/23/2017

7

01/23/2017

8

01/23/2017

9

01/23/2017
01/25/2017

10

01/30/2017

11

02/02/2017

Proceeding Text
that this is an automatically generated message from the Clerk`s
Office and does not supersede any previous or subsequent orders
from the Court. (mps) (Entered: 01/12/2017)
NOTICE of Appearance by JOSEPH C. O'KEEFE on behalf of
AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION OF NEW JERSEY, ADAM
X., BRIAN Y., CASEY Z. (O'KEEFE, JOSEPH) (Entered:
01/18/2017)
MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice by AMERICAN CIVIL
LIBERTIES UNION OF NEW JERSEY. (Attachments: # 1
Certification of Jeanne LoCicero in Support of PHV motion, # 2
Certification of Smith with Good Standing Certificate, # 3
Certification of Packrone with Good Standing Certificate, # 4 Text
of Proposed Order, # 5 Certificate of Service)(LOCICERO,
JEANNE) (Entered: 01/20/2017)
CLERK'S QUALITY CONTROL MESSAGE - The Certifications of
Mary-Lee K. Smith and Seth Packrone submitted with the Motion
for Pro hac 5 by Jeanne Locicero on 1/20/2017 contains an
improper signature. Only Registered Users are permitted to sign
electronically filed documents with an s/. PLEASE RESUBMIT
THE DOCUMENT CERTIFICATION ONLY with a proper
SCANNED SIGNATURE. This submission will remain on the
docket unless otherwise ordered by the court. (mps) (Entered:
01/23/2017)
Set Deadlines as to 5 MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice
. Motion set for 2/21/2017 before Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman. Unless otherwise directed by the Court, this motion will
be decided on the papers and no appearances are required. Note
that this is an automatically generated message from the Clerk`s
Office and does not supersede any previous or subsequent orders
from the Court. (mps) (Entered: 01/23/2017)
NOTICE of Appearance by GREGORY R. BUENO on behalf of
KIMBERLY HARRINGTON, GARY LANNIGAN, NEW JERSEY
DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, NEW JERSEY
DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION (Attachments: # 1 Certificate of
Service)(BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered: 01/23/2017)
Certification of Mary-Lee K. Smith in Support of PHV Application
on behalf of AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION OF NEW
JERSEY Re 5 Motion for Leave to Appear,. (LOCICERO,
JEANNE) (Entered: 01/23/2017)
Certification of Seth Packrone in Support of PHV Application on
behalf of AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION OF NEW
JERSEY Re 5 Motion for Leave to Appear,. (LOCICERO,
JEANNE) (Entered: 01/23/2017)
Letter re 2 First MOTION To Proceed Under Pseudonym .
(BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered: 01/23/2017)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge Freda L.
Wolfson: Telephone Conference held on 1/25/2017, (
Status/Settlement Conference set for 2/27/2017 10:00 AM in
Trenton - Courtroom 5E before Judge Freda L. Wolfson.). (jg, )
(Entered: 01/25/2017)
NOTICE LETTER giving counsel 5 days to object to current Judge
assignment. (mps) (Entered: 01/30/2017)
ORDER that the time to answer or otherwise respond to the
Complaint is extended to 3/14/2017. The parties shall send a copy
of the proposed settlement terms to the Court by 2/23/2017. The
parties shall convene in Chambers for a settlement conference on
2/27/2017 at 10:00 A.M. with decision makers for Defendants and
Plaintiffs available by telephone. Signed by Judge Freda L.
Wolfson on 2/2/2017. (mps) (Entered: 02/02/2017)

Source
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#
12

Date
02/03/2017

13

02/08/2017

14

02/15/2017

02/15/2017

15

02/15/2017

02/15/2017

02/15/2017

16

02/16/2017

17

02/16/2017

Proceeding Text
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno, DAG to the Hon. Lois H. Goodman,
U.S.M.J. re 7 Certification, 5 MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro
Hac Vice , 8 Certification. (BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered:
02/03/2017)
ORDER granting 5 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice as to
Mary-Lee Kimber Smith and Seth Packrone. Signed by Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman on 2/8/2017. (km) (Entered: 02/08/2017)
MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice Notice of Unopposed
Motion For Pro Hac Vice Admission of Attorney William C.
Silverman by ADAM X., BRIAN Y., CASEY Z.. (Attachments: # 1
Motion to Appear Pro Hac Vice Filed on Behalf of Attorney Wiiliam
C. Silverman, # 2 Certification of Joseph C. O'Keefe in Support, #
3 Certification of William C. Silverman in Support, # 4 Text of
Proposed Order, # 5 Certificate of Service)(O'KEEFE, JOSEPH)
(Entered: 02/15/2017)
Set Deadlines as to 14 MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac
Vice Notice of Unopposed Motion For Pro Hac Vice Admission of
Attorney William C. Silverman. Motion set for 3/20/2017 before
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. Unless otherwise directed by
the Court, this motion will be decided on the papers and no
appearances are required. Note that this is an automatically
generated message from the Clerk`s Office and does not
supersede any previous or subsequent orders from the Court.
(mps, ) (Entered: 02/15/2017)
MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice Notice of Unopposed
Motion For Pro Hac Vice Admission of Attorney Brian L. Friedman
by ADAM X., BRIAN Y., CASEY Z.. (Attachments: # 1 Motion to
Appear Pro Hac Vice Filed on Behalf of Attorney Brian L.
Friedman, # 2 Certification of Joseph C. O'Keefe in Support, # 3
Certification of Brian L. Friedman in Support, # 4 Text of Proposed
Order, # 5 Certificate of Service)(O'KEEFE, JOSEPH) (Entered:
02/15/2017)
Set Deadlines as to 15 MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac
Vice Notice of Unopposed Motion For Pro Hac Vice Admission of
Attorney Brian L. Friedman. Motion set for 3/20/2017 before
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. Unless otherwise directed by
the Court, this motion will be decided on the papers and no
appearances are required. Note that this is an automatically
generated message from the Clerk`s Office and does not
supersede any previous or subsequent orders from the Court.
(mps, ) (Entered: 02/15/2017)
CLERK'S QUALITY CONTROL MESSAGE - The Certifications of
William C. Silverman submitted with the 14 Motion for Pro hac and
Brian L. Friedman submitted with the 15 Motion for Pro hac by
Joseph O'Keefe on 2/15/2017 contains an improper signature.
Only Registered Users are permitted to sign electronically filed
documents with an s/. PLEASE RESUBMIT THE DOCUMENT
CERTIFICATIONS ONLY with a proper SCANNED SIGNATURE.
This submission will remain on the docket unless otherwise
ordered by the court (mps) (Entered: 02/15/2017)
Certification of William C. Silverman in Support of Motion to
Appear Pro Hac Vice on behalf of AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES
UNION OF NEW JERSEY, ADAM X., BRIAN Y., CASEY Z. Re 14
Motion for Leave to Appear,. (O'KEEFE, JOSEPH) (Entered:
02/16/2017)
Certification of Brian L. Friedman in Support of Motion to Appear
Pro Hac Vice on behalf of AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION
OF NEW JERSEY, ADAM X., BRIAN Y., CASEY Z. Re 15 Motion
for Leave to Appear,. (O'KEEFE, JOSEPH) (Entered: 02/16/2017)
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#
18

Date
02/17/2017

19

02/17/2017

20

02/23/2017

02/27/2017

02/28/2017

21

03/06/2017

22

03/10/2017

23

03/15/2017

24

03/28/2017

03/28/2017

25

04/07/2017

26

04/07/2017

27

04/12/2017

28

04/18/2017

29

04/21/2017

30

04/24/2017

31

04/24/2017

32

04/25/2017

Proceeding Text
ORDER granting 14 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice as
to William C. Silverman, Esq. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 2/16/2017. (mps) (Entered: 02/17/2017)
ORDER granting 15 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice as
to Brian L. Friedman, Esq.. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 2/16/2017. (mps) (Entered: 02/17/2017)
Letter from All Counsel regarding settlement discussions re 11
Order,. (Attachments: # 1 Text of Proposed Order regarding
Confidentiality, # 2 Text of Proposed Order regarding legal phone
calls)(LOCICERO, JEANNE) (Entered: 02/23/2017)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge Freda L.
Wolfson & Judge Lois H. Goodman: Status Conference held on
2/27/2017. (jg, ) (Entered: 02/27/2017)
Pro Hac Vice fee of $300 received as to Mary-Lee Kimber Smith,
Esq., and Seth Packrone, Esq., receipt number TRE077965. (jem)
(Entered: 03/01/2017)
TEXT ORDER setting a Telephone Conference Call for 3/28/17 at
9:30 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. Plaintiff's
counsel to initiate the call at that time. Ordered by Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman on 3/6/17. (ij, ) (Entered: 03/06/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno Requesting Extension of Time to
Answer, Move or Otherwise Reply to Complaint. (BUENO,
GREGORY) (Entered: 03/10/2017)
LETTER ORDER that the deadline for Defendants to move,
answer, or otherwise respond is extended to 3/24/2017. Signed by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 3/15/2017. (km) (Entered:
03/15/2017)
LETTER ORDER that the Defendants' time to answer is extended
to 4/21/2017. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on
3/28/2017. (km) (Entered: 03/28/2017)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 3/28/2017. (ij, )
(Entered: 03/29/2017)
TEXT ORDER setting a Telephone Conference Call for 4/28/17 at
1:00 p.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. Plaintiffs'
counsel to initiate the call at that time. Ordered by Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman on 4/7/17. (ij, ) (Entered: 04/07/2017)
AMENDED COMPLAINT Adam X., Brian Y., Casey Z., American
Civil Liberties Union of New Jersey, and The Arc of New Jersey
against All Defendants All Defendants., filed by CASEY Z.,
AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION OF NEW JERSEY, ADAM
X., BRIAN Y..(LIVENGOOD, REBECCA) (Entered: 04/07/2017)
Letter from Plaintiffs re Expert Selection. (LOCICERO, JEANNE)
(Entered: 04/12/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno re 27 Letter. (BUENO, GREGORY)
(Entered: 04/18/2017)
ANSWER to Amended Complaint by KIMBERLY HARRINGTON,
GARY LANNIGAN, NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF
CORRECTIONS, NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF
EDUCATION. (Attachments: # 1 Certificate of Service)(BUENO,
GREGORY) (Entered: 04/21/2017)
STIPULATION of Proposed Confidentiality Order by AMERICAN
CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION OF NEW JERSEY. (Attachments: # 1
Appendix)(LIVENGOOD, REBECCA) (Entered: 04/24/2017)
STIPULATION of Proposed Order Regarding Communication with
Incarcerated Clients by AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION OF
NEW JERSEY. (LIVENGOOD, REBECCA) (Entered: 04/24/2017)
Letter from Plaintiffs' Counsel re Expert Selection. (LIVENGOOD,

Source
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#

Date

33

04/25/2017

34

04/28/2017

35

04/28/2017

36

04/28/2017

37

04/28/2017

04/28/2017

05/01/2017

38

05/05/2017

39

05/05/2017

40

05/09/2017

41

05/12/2017

42

05/15/2017

43

05/17/2017

44

05/19/2017

45

05/19/2017

46

05/22/2017

47

05/25/2017

Proceeding Text
REBECCA) (Entered: 04/25/2017)
LETTER ORDER the Clerk's Office is instructed to temporarily
seal the appendix filed as an attachment to the 30 Proposed
Confidentiality Order. The ACLU of NJ shall file a Motion to Seal
by 5/12/2017, returnable 6/5/2017. Signed by Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman on 4/25/2017. (mps) (Entered: 04/25/2017)
CONSENT ORDER regarding telephone use by Plaintiff in this
matter.. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on
4/28/2017. (mps) (Entered: 04/28/2017)
Notice of Request by Pro Hac Vice Seth Packrone to receive
Notices of Electronic Filings. (LOCICERO, JEANNE) (Entered:
04/28/2017)
Notice of Request by Pro Hac Vice Mary Lee Kimber Smith to
receive Notices of Electronic Filings. (LOCICERO, JEANNE)
(Entered: 04/28/2017)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 4/28/2017. (ij, )
(Entered: 05/01/2017)
Pro Hac Vice counsel, SETH PACKRONE and MARY LEE
KIMBER SMITH, has been added to receive Notices of Electronic
Filing. Pursuant to L.Civ.R. 101.1, only local counsel are entitled
to sign and file papers, enter appearances and receive payments
on judgments, decrees or orders. (mps) (Entered: 05/01/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno to the Hon. Lois H. Goodman,
U.S.M.J. (BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered: 05/05/2017)
Letter from Jeanne LoCicero. (LOCICERO, JEANNE) (Entered:
05/05/2017)
PRETRIAL SCHEDULING ORDER: The parties are to either
advise the Court on an agreed upon expert or submit resumes of
the proposed experts to the Court by 5/5/2017 such that the Court
can decide upon an expert. Once an expert has been selected
and retained, a telephone status conference with the expert and
the parties shall be scheduled for 5/25/2017 at 12:00 p.m.. Signed
by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 5/9/2017. (mps)
(Entered: 05/09/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno re 33 Order, 30 Stipulation.
(BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered: 05/12/2017)
Letter from Plaintiffs' Counsel. (Attachments: # 1 Text of Proposed
Order)(LIVENGOOD, REBECCA) (Entered: 05/15/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno to the Hon. Lois H. Goodman.
(Attachments: # 1 Text of Proposed Order)(BUENO, GREGORY)
(Entered: 05/17/2017)
CONSENT ORDER that Dr. Joseph Gagnon shall be the courtappointed independent and neutral expert in this matter who shall
report directly to the Court. Signed by Judge Freda L. Wolfson on
5/19/2017. (mps) (Entered: 05/19/2017)
Letter from Plaintiffs' Counsel re Expert Scope Order.
(LIVENGOOD, REBECCA) (Entered: 05/19/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno re 45 Letter, 44 Order.
(Attachments: # 1 Text of Proposed Order)(BUENO, GREGORY)
(Entered: 05/22/2017)
AMENDED ORDER that Dr. Joseph Gagnon shall be the courtappointed independent and neutral expert in this matter who shall
report directly to the Court. This Order modifies and supersedes
Dkt. No. 44 , which was inadvertently submitted as a Consent
Order. Signed by Judge Freda L. Wolfson on 5/25/2017. (mps)
(Entered: 05/25/2017)
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#
48

Date
05/25/2017

05/25/2017

49

05/30/2017

50

05/31/2017

51

06/02/2017

52

06/09/2017

53

06/14/2017

54

06/15/2017

55

06/27/2017

56

06/27/2017
06/27/2017

57

07/06/2017
07/07/2017

58

07/14/2017

59

07/21/2017

60

07/21/2017

61

07/27/2017

62

07/27/2017

63

08/03/2017

64

08/21/2017

Proceeding Text
LETTER ORDER that the Clerk's Office is instructed to unseal
docket entries 30 and 35 . Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 5/25/2017. (mps) (Entered: 05/25/2017)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 5/25/2017. (eh,
) (Entered: 06/01/2017)
ORDER granting 2 Motion To Proceed Under Pseudonym.
Plaintiffs Adam X., Brian Y., Casey Z. may proceed in this matter
using those pseudonyms. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 5/30/2017. (mps) (Entered: 05/30/2017)
Letter from Plaintiffs' Counsel. (Attachments: # 1 Text of Proposed
Order)(LIVENGOOD, REBECCA) (Entered: 05/31/2017)
CONSENT ORDER that Dr. Gagnon shall submit systemic and
facility-specific document requests to both the New Jersey
Department of Corrections and the New Jersey Department of
Education by 6/9/2017. Defendants shall produce the requested
documents to Dr. Gagnon and Plaintiffs on a rolling basis.
Defendants shall produce all the requested documents to Dr.
Gagnon and Plaintiffs by 7/7/2017. The parties will further meet
and confer with Dr. Gagnon and will propose to the Court by
6/9/2017, a schedule for the site visits and an agreed-upon
budget. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on
6/2/2017. (mps) (Entered: 06/02/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno to the Hon. Lois H. Goodman,
U.S.M.J re 50 Letter, 51 Order,,. (BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered:
06/09/2017)
Letter from Plaintiffs' Counsel. (Attachments: # 1 Text of Proposed
Order)(LIVENGOOD, REBECCA) (Entered: 06/14/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno to the Hon. Lois H. Goodman,
U.S.M.J re 53 Letter. (BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered: 06/15/2017)
Letter from Plaintiffs' Counsel. (LIVENGOOD, REBECCA)
(Entered: 06/27/2017)
Letter from Plaintiffs' Counsel. (LIVENGOOD, REBECCA)
(Entered: 06/27/2017)
DOCKET CLARIFICATION: Docket Entry No. 55 was submitted in
error. (Gonzalez, P) (Entered: 06/27/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno re 56 Letter. (BUENO, GREGORY)
(Entered: 07/06/2017)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 7/7/2017. (ij, )
(Entered: 07/10/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno. (BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered:
07/14/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno to the Hon. Lois H. Goodman,
U.S.M.J. (BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered: 07/21/2017)
Letter from Plaintiffs' counsel to Hon. Lois H. Goodman re 59
Letter. (LOCICERO, JEANNE) (Entered: 07/21/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno to the Hon. Lois H. Goodman,
U.S.M.J. (BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered: 07/27/2017)
Letter from Plaintiffs' Counsel. (Attachments: # 1 Text of Proposed
Order, # 2 Exhibit)(LIVENGOOD, REBECCA) (Entered:
07/27/2017)
CONSENT ORDER setting certain deadlines and budget as to the
work plan of Dr. Joseph Gagnon. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois
H. Goodman on 8/3/2017. (mps) (Entered: 08/03/2017)
TEXT ORDER that a telephonic case management conference
will be conducted on 8/21/2017 at 3:00 p.m. Counsel for Plaintiff is
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Date

08/21/2017

65

08/22/2017

66

08/22/2017

67

08/23/2017

68

09/07/2017

69

09/18/2017

70

09/25/2017

09/25/2017

09/27/2017

10/03/2017

71

10/05/2017

72

10/13/2017

73

10/19/2017

74

10/24/2017

Proceeding Text
to initiate the call to Chambers at that time. Ordered by Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman on 08/21/2017. (Gonzalez, P) (Entered:
08/21/2017)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 8/21/2017. (adi,
) (Entered: 08/22/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno. (Attachments: # 1 Text of
Proposed Order)(BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered: 08/22/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno re 65 Letter. (BUENO, GREGORY)
(Entered: 08/22/2017)
ORDER that Defendants shall make available for review to Dr.
Gagnon the educational and protected health information, as
sought in his document requests, during his five visits to New
Jersey Department of Corrections facilities and shall proceed
same for his use in drafting the expert report. Signed by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 8/22/2017. (mps) (Entered:
08/23/2017)
CONSENT ORDER Allowing Dr. Joseph Gagnon to use a laptop
computer within the secure perimeter of the Central Reception
and Assignment Facility. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 9/7/2017. (km) (Entered: 09/07/2017)
NOTICE of Appearance by MICHAEL EZRA VOMACKA on behalf
of KIMBERLY HARRINGTON, GARY LANNIGAN, NEW JERSEY
DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, NEW JERSEY
DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION (Attachments: # 1
Certification)(VOMACKA, MICHAEL) (Entered: 09/18/2017)
TEXT ORDER that the telephonic conference scheduled for 9:30
a.m. on 09/25/2017 is hereby adjourned to 11:30 a.m. Ordered by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 09/25/2017. (Gonzalez, P)
(Entered: 09/25/2017)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 9/25/2017. (if, )
(Entered: 09/26/2017)
ATTENTION COUNSEL: Telephone Conference Call set for
10/3/17 at 11:00 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman.
Plaintiffs' counsel to initiate the call at that time. (if, ) (Entered:
09/27/2017)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 10/3/2017. (if, )
(Entered: 10/04/2017)
CONSENT ORDER that Dr. Gagnon shall prepare and submit a
neutral expert report that addresses the issues listed in the 44
Consent Order. Dr. Gagnon and the parties shall adhere to the
deadlines listed in this Order for remaining tasks. If Defendants
cannot produce responsive documents to all of Dr. Gagnon's
document requests, they will inform Dr. Gagnon and the Plaintiff
why such documents were not produced. Signed by Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman on 10/5/2017. (mps) (Entered:
10/05/2017)
TEXT ORDER setting a Telephone Conference Call for 11/16/17
at 9:30 a.m. Plaintiff's counsel to initiate the call at that time.
Parties are to submit a joint report by 10/19/17 regarding the
status of document production and inspection. So Ordered by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 10/13/17. (if, ) (Entered:
10/13/2017)
Letter from All Parties re: Status of Expert Discovery re 71 Order,.
(VOMACKA, MICHAEL) (Entered: 10/19/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno to the Hon. Lois H. Goodman,
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Date

75

10/27/2017

76

10/31/2017

77

11/01/2017

78

11/07/2017

79

11/07/2017
11/07/2017
11/07/2017

11/16/2017

80

11/20/2017

81

01/16/2018

82

01/30/2018

83

02/02/2018

02/15/2018
84

02/15/2018

02/16/2018

85

02/16/2018

Proceeding Text
U.S.M.J. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit June 2nd Document
Requests)(BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered: 10/24/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno. (BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered:
10/27/2017)
Notice to be terminated and withdraw from Notices of Electronic
filing as to case. Attorney REBECCA JANE LIVENGOOD
terminated. (LOCICERO, JEANNE) (Entered: 10/31/2017)
CONSENT ORDER granting leave to appear pro hac vice as to
Tess Borden, Esq. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman
on 11/1/2017. (mps) (Entered: 11/01/2017)
Notice of Request by Pro Hac Vice Tess Borden to receive
Notices of Electronic Filings. (LOCICERO, JEANNE) (Entered:
11/07/2017)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno. (BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered:
11/07/2017)
Pro Hac Vice fee: $ 150, receipt number NEW034901 as to Tess
Borden, Esq. (cm, ) (Entered: 11/07/2017)
Pro Hac Vice counsel, TESS BORDEN, has been added to
receive Notices of Electronic Filing. Pursuant to L.Civ.R. 101.1,
only local counsel are entitled to sign and file papers, enter
appearances and receive payments on judgments, decrees or
orders. (mps) (Entered: 11/07/2017)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 11/16/2017. (if,
) (Entered: 11/20/2017)
CONSENT ORDER that the deadline for completion of Rolling
Document Production set in the Court's 27 prior Order of
10/5/2017 shall be extended thirty days to 11/30/2017. A
Telephone Status Conference is set for 2/20/2018 at 9:30 AM.
Plaintiffs' counsel shall initiate the call. A Settlement Conference is
set for 3/21/2018 at 10:00 AM in Courtroom 7E before Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman. Representatives for the parties with full
settlement authority are to be present.. Signed by Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman on 11/20/2017. (mps) (Entered:
11/21/2017)
NOTICE by MARY LEE KIMBER SMITH to be Terminated and
Withdraw from Notice of Electronic Filings as to case
(LOCICERO, JEANNE) (Entered: 01/16/2018)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno. (BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered:
01/30/2018)
CONSENT ORDER granting leave to appear pro hac vice as to
Maia Goodell, Esq. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman
on 2/2/2018. (mps) (Entered: 02/02/2018)
Pro Hac Vice fee of $150 received as to Maia Goodell, Esq.,
receipt number TRE088904 (mps) (Entered: 02/15/2018)
Notice of Request by Pro Hac Vice Maia Goodell to receive
Notices of Electronic Filings. (LOCICERO, JEANNE) (Entered:
02/15/2018)
Pro Hac Vice counsel, MAIA GOODELL, has been added to
receive Notices of Electronic Filing. Pursuant to L.Civ.R. 101.1,
only local counsel are entitled to sign and file papers, enter
appearances and receive payments on judgments, decrees or
orders. (mps) (Entered: 02/16/2018)
CONSENT ORDER that the deadline for Dr. Gagnon's Expert
Report set in the Court's prior order of 11/20/2017 (ECF 80 ) shall
be modified to 2/28/2018. The Telephone Conference is
rescheduled for 3/26/2018 at 10:30 AM. Dr. Gagnon's participation
will not be required. Settlement Conference is rescheduled for
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Date

02/22/2018

03/26/2018

86

03/29/2018

87

05/11/2018

88

05/15/2018
05/21/2018

89

06/21/2018

90

07/30/2018

08/01/2018

91

08/03/2018

09/25/2018

92

09/26/2018

10/22/2018

10/22/2018

93

11/01/2018

Proceeding Text
6/6/2018 at 2:00 PM. Representatives for the parties with full
settlement authorities must be present. Dr. Gagnon's presence will
not be required. The parties shall submit ex-parte statements, not
to exceed 5 pages, by 5/30/2018 via email. Signed by Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman on 2/16/2018. (mps) (Entered:
02/16/2018)
ATTENTION COUNSEL: The Telephone Conference Call set for
3/26/18 at 10:30 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman has
been rescheduled to 12:00 p.m. (if, ) (Entered: 02/22/2018)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 3/26/2018. (if, )
(Entered: 03/27/2018)
TEXT ORDER directing plaintiff to serve settlement proposal by
4/9/18 and defendant to respond to proposal by 5/11/18. The
Settlement Conference scheduled for 6/6/18 will remain as
scheduled. So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on
3/29/18. (if, ) (Entered: 03/29/2018)
Letter from Gregory R. Bueno re 86 Order on Oral Motion,.
(BUENO, GREGORY) (Entered: 05/11/2018)
Letter from Jeanne LoCicero re 87 Letter. (LOCICERO, JEANNE)
(Entered: 05/15/2018)
ATTENTION COUNSEL: The Settlement Conference scheduled
for 6/6/18 with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman has been
rescheduled to 8/1/18 at 2:00 p.m. (if, ) (Entered: 05/21/2018)
NOTICE of Appearance by TESS MEILING BORDEN on behalf of
All Plaintiffs (BORDEN, TESS) (Entered: 06/21/2018)
ORDER granting admission pro hac vice as to Courtney M.
Bowman, Esq. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on
7/30/2018. (mmh) (Entered: 07/30/2018)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Settlement Conference held on 8/1/2018. (if, )
(Entered: 08/02/2018)
TEXT ORDER setting a Telephone Conference for 9/25/18 at 3:30
p.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. Plaintiff's counsel to
initiate the call at that time. So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois
H. Goodman on 8/3/18. (if, ) (Entered: 08/03/2018)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 9/25/2018. (if, )
(Entered: 09/26/2018)
TEXT ORDER setting an In Person Conference for 10/22/18 at
10:00 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. Clients are
directed to appear in person for the conference. So Ordered by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 9/26/18. (if, ) (Entered:
09/26/2018)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge Freda L.
Wolfson: Status Conference held on 10/22/2018, ( Telephone
Conference Call set for 11/20/2018 10:00 AM before Judge Freda
L. Wolfson. Plaintiff counsel shall initiate the call). (jmm, )
(Entered: 10/22/2018)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on
10/22/2018. (if, ) (Entered: 10/23/2018)
TEXT ORDER setting a Telephone Conference Call for 12/4/18 at
10:00 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. Plaintiffs'
counsel to initiate the call at that time. In person status conference
set for 1/14/19 at 10:00 a.m. with Judge Freda L. Wolfson and
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. Parties are to meet in
Courtroom 7E. So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman
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94

11/20/2018
11/20/2018

11/27/2018

12/04/2018

12/04/2018

12/04/2018

01/14/2019

95

01/14/2019

01/14/2019

96

01/17/2019

02/11/2019

02/11/2019

03/14/2019

97

03/15/2019

04/04/2019

98

04/08/2019

99

04/18/2019

Proceeding Text
on 11/1/18. (if, ) (Entered: 11/01/2018)
NOTICE of Change of Address by JOSEPH C. O'KEEFE
(O'KEEFE, JOSEPH) (Entered: 11/20/2018)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge Freda L.
Wolfson: Telephone Conference held on 11/20/2018. Telephone
conference call scheduled for 12/4/2018 @ 10:00.A.M. (jmm, )
(Entered: 12/03/2018)
ATTENTION COUNSEL: The Telephone Conference Call
scheduled for 12/4/18 at 10:00 a.m. will be held in Judge Freda L.
Wolfson's Chambers. Parties are directed to call Judge Wolfson's
Chambers at that time. (if, ) (Entered: 11/27/2018)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge Freda L.
Wolfson: Telephone Conference held on 12/4/2018. Status letters
due by 1/4/2019. (jmm, ) (Entered: 12/04/2018)
CLERK'S QUALITY CONTROL MESSAGE - Please note date
listed in minute entry is incorrect. Status letters shall be due
1/10/2019. (jmm, ) (Entered: 12/04/2018)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 12/4/2018. (if, )
(Entered: 12/06/2018)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on
1/14/2019. (if, ) (Entered: 01/14/2019)
TEXT ORDER setting an In person status conference for 2/11/19
at 10:00 a.m. with Judge Freda L. Wolfson and Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman. Parties are to meet in Courtroom 7E. So
Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 1/14/19. (if, )
(Entered: 01/14/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge Freda L.
Wolfson & Magistrate Judge Goodman: Status Conference held
on 1/14/2019. In-Person Status Conference set for 2/11/2019 at
10:00 A.M. (jmm, ) (Entered: 01/14/2019)
Notice to be terminated and withdraw from Notices of Electronic
filing as to case. Attorney EDWARD L. BAROCAS terminated.
(BAROCAS, EDWARD) (Entered: 01/17/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge Freda L.
Wolfson: Status Conference held on 2/11/2019. (jmm, ) (Entered:
02/11/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on
2/11/2019. (if, ) (Entered: 02/14/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In PersonStatus Conference held on
3/14/2019. (if, ) (Entered: 03/15/2019)
TEXT ORDER setting In Person Conferences before Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman for 4/4/19 at 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. and
4/18/19 from 9:30 a.m. to 1:30 p.m. So Ordered by Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman on 3/15/19. (if, ) (Entered: 03/15/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on 4/4/2019.
(if, ) (Entered: 04/08/2019)
TEXT ORDER setting In Person Status Conferences for 4/18/19
at 9:30 a.m., 4/25/19 at 10:00 a.m. and 5/14/19 at 10:00 a.m.
before Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. So Ordered by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 4/8/19. (if, ) (Entered:
04/08/2019)
TEXT ORDER canceling the In Person Conference set for 4/25/19
and setting an In Person Conference for 6/14/19 at 10:00 a.m. So
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100

05/09/2019
05/14/2019

101

05/16/2019

102

05/20/2019

06/14/2019

07/09/2019

103

07/22/2019

08/06/2019

104

08/07/2019

09/03/2019

10/10/2019

105

10/17/2019

10/31/2019

106

11/05/2019

107

11/13/2019

108

11/19/2019

Proceeding Text
Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 4/18/19. (if, )
(Entered: 04/18/2019)
Letter from Plaintiffs' Counsel. (LOCICERO, JEANNE) (Entered:
05/09/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on
5/14/2019. (if, ) (Entered: 05/14/2019)
TEXT ORDER setting an In Person Status Conference for 7/9/19
at 10:00 a.m. and 8/6/19 at 10:00 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois
H. Goodman. Joint submission to be submitted by 6/11/19. So
Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 5/16/19. (if, )
(Entered: 05/16/2019)
CONSENT ORDER that Dr. Susan Roberts shall be the External
Monitor for the Initial Monitoring Period and for the External
Monitoring Term; Defendants the Department of Corrections
("DOC") and the Department of Education ("DOE") shall bear all
costs of the External Monitor. Signed by Chief Judge Freda L.
Wolfson on 5/20/2019. (jem) (Entered: 05/20/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on
6/14/2019. (if, ) (Entered: 06/17/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on 7/9/2019.
(if, ) (Entered: 07/10/2019)
TEXT ORDER setting an In Person Status Conference for 8/27/19
at 10:00 a.m. and 9/3/19 at 10:00 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois
H. Goodman. So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman
on 7/22/19. (if, ) (Entered: 07/22/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on 8/6/2019.
(if, ) (Entered: 08/07/2019)
TEXT ORDER canceling the the 8/27/19 In Person Conference
with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman and setting an In Person
Conference for 10/10/19 at 10:00 a.m. So Ordered by Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman on 8/7/19. (if, ) (Entered: 08/07/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on 9/3/2019.
(if, ) (Entered: 09/04/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In PersonStatus Conference held on
10/10/2019. (if, ) (Entered: 10/22/2019)
TEXT ORDER setting an In Person Status Conference for
10/31/19 at 10:00 a.m. and 11/20/19 at 10:00 a.m. with Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman. So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 10/17/19. (if, ) (Entered: 10/17/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In PersonStatus Conference held on
10/31/2019. (if, ) (Entered: 11/01/2019)
TEXT ORDER setting an In Person Conference for 11/20/19 and
12/17/19 at 10:00 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman.
So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 11/5/19. (if,
) (Entered: 11/05/2019)
Letter from Plaintiffs' Counsel. (BORDEN, TESS) (Entered:
11/13/2019)
MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice by ADAM X., BRIAN
Y., CASEY Z.. (Attachments: # 1 Certification Certification of
Russell T. Gorkin, Esq. in Support of his Pro Hac Vice Admission,
# 2 Certification Certification of Joseph C. O'Keefe in support of
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11/19/2019

109

11/19/2019

11/20/2019

110

11/25/2019

12/17/2019

111

01/02/2020

01/15/2020

112

01/17/2020

113

01/21/2020

01/21/2020

02/07/2020

02/26/2020

114

02/28/2020

115

02/28/2020

116

03/02/2020

03/12/2020
117

05/07/2020

Proceeding Text
Pro Hac Vice Admission of Russell T. Gorkin, Esq., # 3 Text of
Proposed Order)(O'KEEFE, JOSEPH) (Entered: 11/19/2019)
Set Deadlines as to 108 MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac
Vice . Motion set for 12/16/2019 before Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman. Unless otherwise directed by the Court, this motion will
be decided on the papers and no appearances are required. Note
that this is an automatically generated message from the Clerk`s
Office and does not supersede any previous or subsequent orders
from the Court. (jem) (Entered: 11/19/2019)
ORDER granting 108 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice as
to Russell T. Gorkin, Esq. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 11/19/2019. (jem) (Entered: 11/19/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on
11/20/2019. (if, ) (Entered: 11/21/2019)
TEXT ORDER setting an In Person Conference for 1/15/20 at
10:00 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. So Ordered
by Magistrate Judge Lois on 11/25/19. (if, ) (Entered: 11/25/2019)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on
12/17/2019. (if, ) (Entered: 12/20/2019)
TEXT ORDER setting an In Person Status Conference for 1/15/19
at 10:00 a.m. 2/7/2020 at 10:00 a.m. and 2/26/20 at 10:00 a.m.
with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. So Ordered by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 1/2/2020. (if, ) (Entered:
01/02/2020)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on
1/15/2020. (if, ) (Entered: 01/17/2020)
TEXT ORDER setting an In Person Conference for 3/10/20 at
10:00 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. So Ordered
by Magistrate Lois H. Goodman on 1/17/2020. (if, ) (Entered:
01/17/2020)
TEXT ORDER ADMINISTRATIVELY TERMINATING ACTION.
Ordered by Chief Judge Freda L. Wolfson on 1/21/2020. (jmm, )
(Entered: 01/21/2020)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 1/21/2020. (if, )
(Entered: 01/22/2020)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on 2/7/2020.
(if, ) (Entered: 02/10/2020)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: In Person Status Conference held on
2/26/2020. (if, ) (Entered: 02/26/2020)
CONSENT ORDER granting pro hac vice admission as to Andrea
Kozak-Oxnard, Esq. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 2/28/2020. (jem) (Entered: 02/28/2020)
Letter from Plaintiffs' counsel. (BORDEN, TESS) (Entered:
02/28/2020)
TEXT ORDER cancelling the In Person Conference scheduled for
3/10/2020. Counsel is directed to submit the Dial In information for
Judge Goodman's participation on the 3/25/2020 Telephone
Conference. So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman
on 3/2/2020. (if, ) (Entered: 03/02/2020)
Pro Hac Vice fee received as to Andrea Kozak-Oxnard: $ 150,
receipt number TRE110260 (abr) (Entered: 03/12/2020)
Notice of Request by Pro Hac Vice Andrea Kozak-Oxnard to
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05/07/2020

118

08/19/2020

119

08/31/2020

09/01/2020
09/01/2020

120

09/01/2020

10/05/2020

121

11/30/2020

122

11/30/2020

12/18/2020

123

12/22/2020

124

01/07/2021
01/14/2021

125

01/20/2021

02/05/2021

126

02/09/2021

Proceeding Text
receive Notices of Electronic Filings. (BORDEN, TESS) (Entered:
05/07/2020)
Pro Hac Vice counsel, ANDREA KOZAK-OXNARD, has been
added to receive Notices of Electronic Filing. Pursuant to L.Civ.R.
101.1, only local counsel are entitled to sign and file papers, enter
appearances and receive payments on judgments, decrees or
orders. (jem) (Entered: 05/07/2020)
TEXT ORDER rescheduling the Telephone Conference to
8/31/2020 at 2:00 p.m. So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 8/19/2020. (if, ) (Entered: 08/19/2020)
CONSENT ORDER granting pro hac vice admission as to
Rebecca Rodgers, Esq. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 8/31/2020. (jem) (Entered: 08/31/2020)
Pro Hac Vice fee as to Rebecca Rodgers: $ 150, receipt number
CAM011614 (dmr) (Entered: 09/01/2020)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 9/1/2020. (if, )
(Entered: 09/01/2020)
TEXT ORDER setting a Telephone Conference for 10/5/2020 at
11:00 a.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman. American
Civil Liberties Union to initiate the call at that time. So Ordered by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 9/1/2020. (if, ) (Entered:
09/01/2020)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 10/5/2020. (if, )
(Entered: 10/06/2020)
TEXT ORDER adjourning the Telephone Conference scheduled
for 11/30/2020 to 12/18/2020 at 11:00 a.m. Counsel is directed to
provide the Court with dial in information. So Ordered by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 11/30/2020. (if, ) (Entered:
11/30/2020)
NOTICE of Appearance by AIMEE BLENNER on behalf of NEW
JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION (BLENNER, AIMEE)
(Entered: 11/30/2020)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 12/18/2020. (if,
) (Entered: 12/22/2020)
TEXT ORDER setting a Telephone Conference with Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman for 1/14/2021 at 9:30 a.m. The Court will
provide parties with dial in information via email. Counsel to report
by 1/7/2021 as to the status of attorneys fees resolution. So
Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 12/22/2020. (if,
) (Entered: 12/22/2020)
Letter from Defendants. (BLENNER, AIMEE) (Entered:
01/07/2021)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 1/14/2021. (if, )
(Entered: 01/20/2021)
TEXT ORDER setting a Settlement Conference via zoom
videoconference for 2/5/2021 at 11:00 a.m. with Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman. Clients will participate. The Court will provide
parties with the zoom invitation via email. So Ordered by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 1/20/2021. (if, ) (Entered:
01/20/2021)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Settlement Conference held on 2/5/2021 via
zoom videoconference. (if, ) (Entered: 02/09/2021)
TEXT ORDER setting a Settlement Conference via zoom
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03/05/2021

127

03/09/2021

128

03/11/2021

03/31/2021

129

04/06/2021

130

04/27/2021

04/28/2021

04/28/2021
04/29/2021

131

04/30/2021

132

05/27/2021

133

06/15/2021

134

07/13/2021

Proceeding Text
videoconference for 3/5/2021 at 12:00 p.m. with Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman. Clients to participate. The Court will provide
parties with the zoom invitation via email. So Ordered by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 2/9/2021. (if, ) (Entered:
02/09/2021)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Settlement Conference held on 3/5/2021 via
zoom videoconference. (if, ) (Entered: 03/09/2021)
TEXT ORDER setting a Settlement Conference for 3/11/2021 at
2:30 p.m. via zoom videoconference. Defendant is directed to
advise the Court by 3/10/2021 at 1:00 p.m. if parties are ready to
proceed on 3/11/2021. So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman on 3/9/2021. (if, ) (Entered: 03/09/2021)
TEXT ORDER rescheduling the Settlement Conference scheduled
for 3/11/2021 to 3/31/2021 at 10:30 a.m. So Ordered by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 3/11/2021. (if, ) (Entered:
03/11/2021)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Settlement Conference held on 3/31/2021 via
zoom videoconference. (ijf, ) (Entered: 04/01/2021)
TEXT ORDER setting a Settlement Conference for 4/29/2021 at
3:00 p.m. via zoom videoconference. Clients are directed to be
present. Counsel is directed to submit a joint status report by
4/16/2021. So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on
4/6/2021. (ijf, ) (Entered: 04/06/2021)
CONSENT ORDER granting pro hac vice admission as to Ptahra
Jeppe. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on
4/27/2021. (jem) (Entered: 04/27/2021)
ATTENTION COUNSEL: The Settlement Conference scheduled
for 4/29/2021 at 3:00 p.m. with Magistrate Judge Lois H.
Goodman has been rescheduled to 3:30 p.m. (ijf, ) (Entered:
04/28/2021)
Pro Hac Vice fee as to Ptahra Jeppe: $ 150, receipt number
CAM012660 (dmr) (Entered: 04/28/2021)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Settlement Conference held on 4/29/2021 via
zoom videoconference. (ijf, ) (Entered: 04/30/2021)
TEXT ORDER directing counsel to file a Motion for Preliminary
Approval of the Class and the Settlement by 5/28/2021. If, there
are any delays counsel is to advise the Court. So Ordered d by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 4/30/2021. (ijf, ) (Entered:
04/30/2021)
TEXT ORDER that the deadline to file a Motion for Preliminary
Approval is hereby extended from 05/28/2021 to 06/17/2021;
counsel are to provide a status report by no later than 06/09/2021.
So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on
05/27/2021. (Gonzalez, P) (Entered: 05/27/2021)
TEXT ORDER that the deadline to file a Motion for Preliminary
Approval is hereby extended from 6/17/2021 to 7/16/2021;
counsel are to provide a status report by no later than 7/1/2021.
So Ordered by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 6/15/2021.
(ijf, ) (Entered: 06/15/2021)
TEXT ORDER; the parties are to provide a status update via email
by 3:00 p.m. today as to final approvals. If the Department of
Corrections has not provided final approval by that time, the
Department shall provide a good cause for the delay. So Ordered
by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 7/13/2021. (ijf, )
(Entered: 07/13/2021)
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07/16/2021

136

07/21/2021

137

08/06/2021

138

08/10/2021

08/10/2021

139

08/20/2021

140

11/03/2021

141

11/04/2021

142

12/07/2021

143

12/10/2021

12/13/2021

12/17/2021

Proceeding Text
MOTION to Certify Class and Preliminary Approval of Settlement
(Unopposed) by All Plaintiffs. (Attachments: # 1 Brief in support of
Unopposed Motion for Class Certification and Preliminary
Approval, # 2 Declaration Jeanne LoCicero, # 3 Exhibit 1 to
LoCicero Decl: Settlement Agreement, # 4 Exhibit 2 to LoCicero
Decl: Notice to Class, # 5 Exhibit 3 to LoCicero Decl: Email from
DAG Vomacka, # 6 Declaration Rebecca Rodgers, # 7
Declaration William Silverman, # 8 Declaration Plaintiff Adam X., #
9 Declaration Plaintiff Brian Y., # 10 Declaration Plaintiff Casey Z.,
# 11 Declaration Amol Sinha for Plaintiff ACLU-NJ, # 12
Declaration Jessica Oppenheim for Plaintiff Arc of NJ, # 13 Text of
Proposed Order)(BORDEN, TESS) (Entered: 07/16/2021)
Set Deadlines as to 135 MOTION to Certify Class and Preliminary
Approval of Settlement (Unopposed). Motion set for 8/16/2021
before Chief Judge Freda L. Wolfson. Unless otherwise directed
by the Court, this motion will be decided on the papers and no
appearances are required. Note that this is an automatically
generated message from the Clerk`s Office and does not
supersede any previous or subsequent orders from the Court.
(jem) (Entered: 07/16/2021)
ORDER granting 135 Motion for Preliminary Approval of Class
Settlement; A Fairness Hearing pursuant to Rule 23(e) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure shall be held 1/26/2022 at 10:00
a.m. in the United States District Court for the District of New
Jersey, Courtroom 5E, to determine whether the proposed
settlement is fair, reasonable, and adequate, and whether it
should be finally approved. Signed by Chief Judge Freda L.
Wolfson on 7/21/2021. (jem) (Entered: 07/21/2021)
Letter from Plaintiffs' counsel re PHV counsel withdrawal.
(BORDEN, TESS) (Entered: 08/06/2021)
Notice of Request by Pro Hac Vice Rebecca Rodgers to receive
Notices of Electronic Filings. (BORDEN, TESS) (Entered:
08/10/2021)
Pro Hac Vice counsel, REBECCA RODGERS, has been added to
receive Notices of Electronic Filing. Pursuant to L.Civ.R. 101.1,
only local counsel are entitled to sign and file papers, enter
appearances and receive payments on judgments, decrees or
orders. (jem) (Entered: 08/10/2021)
LETTER ORDER withdrawing Andrea Kozak-Oxnard. Signed by
Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 8/20/2021. (abr, )
(Entered: 08/20/2021)
Letter from Plaintiffs' counsel re pro hac vice counsel withdrawal.
(BORDEN, TESS) (Entered: 11/03/2021)
LETTER ORDER granting withdrawal of pro hac vice attorney
Ptahra Jeppe. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on
11/4/2021. (mg) (Entered: 11/05/2021)
CONSENT ORDER granting pro hac vice admission as to Erin
Gallagher. Signed by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on
12/07/2021. (jem) (Entered: 12/07/2021)
TEXT ORDER setting a Telephone Conference with Magistrate
Judge Lois H. Goodman for 12/13/2021 at 11:00 a.m. The Court
will provide parties with dial in information via email. So Ordered
by Magistrate Judge Lois H. Goodman on 12/10/2021. (ijf, )
(Entered: 12/10/2021)
Text Minute Entry for proceedings held before Magistrate Judge
Lois H. Goodman: Telephone Conference held on 12/13/2021. (ijf,
) (Entered: 12/15/2021)
Pro Hac Vice fee: $ 150, receipt number CAM013606 As to Erin
Gallagher Order 142 (dmw) (Entered: 12/17/2021)
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145

01/05/2022

01/05/2022

146

02/09/2022

147

02/09/2022

02/10/2022

148

03/01/2022

149

03/03/2022

150

03/03/2022

151

03/03/2022

152

03/21/2022

Proceeding Text
CONSENT ORDER Extending Deadlines: The deadline to object
to the proposed Settlement Agreement is extended until
1/26/2022. The deadline for Class Counsel and counsel for
Defendants to respond to any timely filed objections and for
Plaintiffs to file their Motion for Final Approval of Settlement is
extended to 2/09/2022. The Fairness Hearing is continued from
January 26, 2022 to 3/03/2022 at 11:00 a.m., and will be held via
Zoom. Signed by Chief Judge Freda L. Wolfson on 12/20/2021.
(jem) (Entered: 12/20/2021)
Notice of Request by Pro Hac Vice Erin Gallagher to receive
Notices of Electronic Filings. (BORDEN, TESS) (Entered:
01/05/2022)
Pro Hac Vice counsel, ERIN GALLAGHER, has been added to
receive Notices of Electronic Filing. Pursuant to L.Civ.R. 101.1,
only local counsel are entitled to sign and file papers, enter
appearances and receive payments on judgments, decrees or
orders. (jem) (Entered: 01/05/2022)
DECLARATION of Michael Vomacka re: Dissemination of Class
Notice by Defendants re 144 Scheduling Order, by GARY
LANNIGAN, NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS.
(VOMACKA, MICHAEL) (Entered: 02/09/2022)
MOTION for Final Approval of Settlement Agreement and
Attorneys' Fees (Unopposed) by All Plaintiffs. (Attachments: # 1
Brief in support of Unopposed Motion for Final Approval of
Settlement Agreement and Attorneys Fees, # 2 Declaration Tess
Borden, # 3 Declaration Rebecca Rodgers, # 4 Exhibit A to
Rodgers Declaration, # 5 Text of Proposed Order)(BORDEN,
TESS) (Entered: 02/09/2022)
Set Deadlines as to 147 MOTION for Final Approval of Settlement
Agreement and Attorneys' Fees (Unopposed) . Motion set for
3/7/2022 before Chief Judge Freda L. Wolfson. Unless otherwise
directed by the Court, this motion will be decided on the papers
and no appearances are required. Note that this is an
automatically generated message from the Clerk`s Office and
does not supersede any previous or subsequent orders from the
Court. (jem) (Entered: 02/10/2022)
DECLARATION of Tess Borden re 147 MOTION for Final
Approval of Settlement Agreement and Attorneys' Fees
(Unopposed) by All Plaintiffs. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1 ACLU
of New Jersey records, # 2 Exhibit 2 Disability Rights Advocates
records, # 3 Exhibit 3 Proskauer Rose records)(BORDEN, TESS)
(Entered: 03/01/2022)
Minute Entry for proceedings held before Chief Judge Freda L.
Wolfson: Motion Hearing held on 3/3/2022 re 147 MOTION for
Final Approval of Settlement Agreement and Attorneys' Fees
(Unopposed) filed by CASEY Z., AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES
UNION OF NEW JERSEY, ADAM X., BRIAN Y. Court Granted
Final Approval of Class Action Settlement; Court Approved
Attorney Fees & Costs. Opinion & Order to be filed. (Court
Reporter, Carol Farrell (856-318-6100)) (jmm, ) (Entered:
03/03/2022)
OPINION filed. Signed by Chief Judge Freda L. Wolfson on
3/03/2022. (jem) (Entered: 03/03/2022)
ORDER granting 147 Motion Final Approval of Settlement
Agreement and Approving Award of Attorneys' Fees and Costs.
Signed by Chief Judge Freda L. Wolfson on 3/03/2022. (jem)
(Entered: 03/03/2022)
NOTICE of Appearance by ELYLA HUERTAS on behalf of All
Plaintiffs (HUERTAS, ELYLA) (Entered: 03/21/2022)
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Proceeding Text
Transcript of FAIRNESS HEARING (OPINION ATTACHED) held
on 3/3/2022, before Judge Freda L. Wolfson. Court
Reporter/Transcriber Carol Farrell (856-318-6100). NOTICE
REGARDING (1) REDACTION OF PERSONAL IDENTIFIERS IN
TRANSCRIPTS AND (2) MOTION TO REDACT AND SEAL: The
parties have seven (7) calendar days to file with the Court a
Notice of Intent to Request Redaction of this Transcript to comply
with Fed.R.Civ.P.5.2(a) (personal identifiers). Parties seeking to
redact and seal this Transcript, or portions thereof, pursuant to
L.Civ.R. 5.3(g) must e-file a Motion to Redact and Seal utilizing
the event `Redact and Seal Transcript/Digital Recording`.
Redaction Request to Court Reporter/Transcription Agency due,
but not filed, by 4/20/2022. Redacted Transcript Deadline set for
5/2/2022. Release of Transcript Restriction set for 6/28/2022. (jjc,
) (Entered: 03/30/2022)
LETTER ORDER altering Period I Monitoring; Period I CAP by
May 16, 2022 to the Parties and the External Monitor, rather than
the previous February 15, 2022 date. The Parties and the External
Monitor will telephonically meet and confer to discuss the
Framework on or before May 30, 2022, and again during the week
of June 27, 2022, rather than the previous February 28, 2022 and
March 14, 2022 dates. Period I Verification will be completed by
February 1, 2023, as previously agreed. Signed by Chief Judge
Freda L. Wolfson on 4/4/2022. (jal) Modified on 4/4/2022 (jmh).
(Entered: 04/04/2022)
Notice to be terminated and withdraw from Notices of Electronic
filing as to case. Attorney TESS MEILING BORDEN terminated.
(BORDEN, TESS) (Entered: 04/08/2022)
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